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                          PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                      THREE MONTHS ENDED     SIX MONTHS ENDED 
                                                            JUNE 30,              JUNE 30, 
                                                      ------------------    ------------------ 
(in thousands, except per share amounts)                2001       2000       2001       2000 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                            
REVENUES 
   Rental                                             $25,768    $22,847    $51,875    $44,228 
   Rental Related Services                              4,317      3,974      8,495      7,296 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
     Rental Operations                                 30,085     26,821     60,370     51,524 
   Sales                                               11,347     10,315     17,068     17,008 
   Other                                                  305        233        581        480 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
            Total Revenues                             41,737     37,369     78,019     69,012 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
 
COSTS AND EXPENSES 
   Direct Costs of Rental Operations 
     Depreciation                                       6,742      5,745     13,162     11,101 
     Rental Related Services                            3,028      2,324      5,370      4,056 
     Other                                              3,754      4,706      8,462      8,487 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
           Total Direct Costs of Rental Operations     13,524     12,775     26,994     23,644 
   Costs of Sales                                       7,671      6,915     11,519     11,736 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
            Total Costs                                21,195     19,690     38,513     35,380 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
              Gross Margin                             20,542     17,679     39,506     33,632 
   Selling and Administrative                           5,679      4,787     11,476      9,482 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
     Income from Operations                            14,863     12,892     28,030     24,150 
   Interest                                             1,853      2,160      3,997      4,104 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
     Income Before Provision for Income Taxes          13,010     10,732     24,033     20,046 
   Provision for Income Taxes                           5,178      4,186      9,565      7,818 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
     Income Before Minority Interest                    7,832      6,546     14,468     12,228 
   Minority Interest in Income of Subsidiary              217        157        218        136 
                                                      -------    -------    -------    ------- 
   Net Income                                         $ 7,615    $ 6,389    $14,250    $12,092 
                                                      =======    =======    =======    ======= 
 
Earnings Per Share: 
   Basic                                              $  0.63    $  0.52    $  1.17    $  0.97 
   Diluted                                            $  0.62    $  0.52    $  1.16    $  0.97 
Shares Used in Per Share Calculation: 
   Basic                                               12,178     12,305     12,162     12,402 
   Diluted                                             12,378     12,393     12,336     12,494 
 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                             JUNE 30,      DECEMBER 31, 
                                                            ---------      ------------ 
(in thousands)                                                 2001            2000 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                       
ASSETS 
Cash                                                        $     572       $     643 
Accounts Receivable, less allowance for doubtful 
   accounts of $850 in 2001 and $650 in 2000                   39,669          45,687 
 
Rental Equipment, at cost: 
   Relocatable Modular Offices                                274,670         261,081 
   Electronic Test Instruments                                100,187          92,404 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
                                                              374,857         353,485 
   Less Accumulated Depreciation                             (114,375)       (106,083) 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
   Rental Equipment, net                                      260,482         247,402 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
 
Land, at cost                                                  19,303          19,303 
Buildings, Land Improvements, Equipment and Furniture, 
   at cost, less accumulated depreciation of $7,785 
   in 2001 and $6,815 in 2000                                  33,154          33,233 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets                              11,177          10,978 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
           Total Assets                                     $ 364,357       $ 357,246 
                                                            =========       ========= 
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Liabilities: 
   Notes Payable                                            $ 122,500       $ 126,876 
   Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities                    39,984          37,012 
   Deferred Income                                             13,562          19,241 
   Minority Interest in Subsidiary                              3,724           3,506 
   Deferred Income Taxes                                       64,676          61,653 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
           Total Liabilities                                  244,446         248,288 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
 
Shareholders' Equity: 
   Common Stock, no par value - 
     Authorized -- 40,000 shares 
     Outstanding --  12,202 shares in 2001 and 
           12,125 shares in 2000                                9,587           8,971 
   Retained Earnings                                          110,324          99,987 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
           Total Shareholders' Equity                         119,911         108,958 
                                                            ---------       --------- 
           Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity       $ 364,357       $ 357,246 
                                                            =========       ========= 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 
                                                                                ------------------------- 
 (in thousands)                                                                    2001           2000 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                           
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net Income                                                                    $ 14,250       $ 12,092 
   Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided 
     by Operating Activities: 
      Depreciation and Amortization                                                14,132         12,001 
      Impairment Loss Related to Rental Equipment                                      --            698 
      Gain on Sale of Rental Equipment                                             (3,037)        (3,355) 
      Change In: 
        Accounts Receivable                                                         6,018         (2,059) 
        Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets                                            (199)        (1,714) 
        Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities                                    2,923          4,968 
        Deferred Income                                                            (5,679)          (901) 
        Deferred Income Taxes                                                       3,023            118 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
           Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities                               31,431         21,848 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
   Purchase of Rental Equipment                                                   (31,409)       (34,932) 
   Purchase of  Land, Buildings, Land Improvements, Equipment and Furniture          (891)        (1,497) 
   Proceeds from Sale of Rental Equipment                                           8,204          8,833 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
           Net Cash Used in Investing Activities                                  (24,096)       (27,596) 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net Borrowings (Payments) Under Notes Payable                                   (4,376)        15,500 
   Net Proceeds from the Exercise of Stock Options                                    616             62 
   Repurchase of Common Stock                                                          --         (4,379) 
   Payment of Dividends                                                            (3,646)        (3,228) 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
           Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities                     (7,406)         7,955 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
 
           Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash                                            (71)         2,207 
Cash Balance, Beginning of Period                                                     643            490 
                                                                                 --------       -------- 
Cash Balance, End of Period                                                      $    572       $  2,697 
                                                                                 ========       ======== 
 
Interest Paid During the Period                                                  $  4,415       $  4,064 
                                                                                 ========       ======== 
Income Taxes Paid During the Period                                              $  6,542       $  7,700 
                                                                                 ========       ======== 
Dividends Declared but not yet Paid                                              $  1,966       $  1,723 
                                                                                 ========       ======== 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                                  JUNE 30, 2001 
 
 
 
NOTE 1.   CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
        The consolidated financial information for the six months ended June 30, 
2001 has not been audited, but in the opinion of management, all adjustments 
(consisting of only normal recurring accruals, consolidation and eliminating 
entries) necessary for the fair presentation of the consolidated results of 
operations, financial position, and cash flows of McGrath RentCorp (the 
"Company") have been made. The consolidated results of the six months ended June 
30, 2001 should not be considered as necessarily indicative of the consolidated 
results for the entire year. It is suggested that these consolidated financial 
statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes 
thereto included in the Company's latest Form 10-K. 
 
 
NOTE 2.  ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES 
 
        On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities" (SFAS 133), as amended by SFAS 138, which establishes accounting and 
reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument (including 
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the 
balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. The 
Company does not own any derivative instruments, and as such, the implementation 
of this statement did not have a material impact on the Company's financial 
position or result of operations. 
 
 
NOTE 3. NOTES PAYABLE 
 
        In June 2001, the Company amended its unsecured line of credit agreement 
(the "Agreement") with its banks that extended the expiration date of the 
Agreement to June 30, 2004. The Agreement allows the Company to borrow $120.0 
million of which $82.5 million was outstanding as of June 30, 2001. The 
Agreement requires the Company to pay interest at prime or, at the Company's 
election, at other rate options available under the Agreement. In addition, the 
Company pays a commitment fee on the daily average unused portion of the 
available line. Among other restrictions, the Agreement requires (i) the Company 
to maintain shareholders' equity of not less than $100.0 million plus 50% of all 
net income generated subsequent to June 30, 2001 plus 90% of any new stock 
issuance proceeds, (ii) a debt-to-equity ratio (excluding deferred income taxes) 
of not more than 3 to 1, (iii) interest coverage (income from operations 
compared to interest expense) of not less than 2 to 1 and (iv) debt service 
coverage (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
compared to the following year's principal payments plus the most recent twelve 
months of interest expense) of not less than 1.15 to 1. 
 
        In addition to the $120.0 million unsecured line of credit, the Company 
entered into a new $5.0 million credit facility in June 2001 (at prime rate) 
related to its cash management services which expires June 30, 2004. No amounts 
were outstanding at June 30, 2001. 
 
 
NOTE 4. RECLASSIFICATIONS 
 
        Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current 
year presentation. 
 
 
NOTE 5.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
        In July 2001, the Company entered into a Stock Exchange Agreement with 
the minority shareholders of Enviroplex to increase its ownership in Enviroplex 
from 73.2% to 80.7%. The Company exchanged 85,366 shares of its common stock for 
7.5% of Enviroplex. 
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NOTE 6.  BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
 
        The Company defines its business segments based on the nature of 
operations for the purpose of reporting under SFAS 131, "Disclosures about 
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information". The Company's three 
reportable segments are Mobile Modular Management Corporation (Modulars), 
RenTelco (Electronics), and Enviroplex. The operations of these three segments 
are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in 
the Company's latest Form 10-K. As a separate corporate entity, Enviroplex 
revenues and expenses are separately maintained from Modulars and Electronics. 
Excluding interest expense, allocations of revenues and expenses not directly 
associated with Modulars or Electronics are generally allocated to these 
segments based on their pro-rata share of direct revenues. Interest expense is 
allocated between Modulars and Electronics based on their pro-rata share of 
average rental equipment, accounts receivable and customer security deposits. 
The Company does not report total assets by business segment. Summarized 
financial information for the six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 for the 
Company's reportable segments is shown in the following table: 
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- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
(in thousands)                            MODULARS(1)   ELECTRONICS(2)  ENVIROPLEX    CONSOLIDATED 
                                          -----------   --------------  ----------    ------------ 
                                                                           
SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 
2001 
Rental Revenues                             $ 30,653       $ 21,222       $    --       $ 51,875 
Rental Related Services Revenues               8,090            405            --          8,495 
Sales and Other Revenues                       7,454          4,501         5,694         17,649 
Total Revenues                                46,197         26,128         5,694         78,019 
Depreciation on Rental Equipment               6,427          6,735            --         13,162 
Interest Expense                               2,978          1,220          (201)         3,997 
Income before Income Taxes                    12,583         10,507           943         24,033 
Rental Equipment Acquisitions                 17,955         13,454           --          31,409 
Accounts Receivable, net (period end)         22,084         12,479         5,106         39,669 
Rental Equipment, at cost (period end)       274,670        100,187            --        374,857 
Utilization (Period end)(3)                    84.9%          49.3% 
Average Utilization(3)                         85.1%          57.0% 
 
2000 
Rental Revenues                             $ 27,380       $ 16,848       $    --       $ 44,228 
Rental Related Services Revenues               6,931            365            --          7,296 
Sales and Other Revenues                       7,036          5,347         5,105         17,488 
Total Revenues                                41,347         22,560         5,105         69,012 
Depreciation on Rental Equipment               5,821          5,280            --         11,101 
Interest Expense                               3,139          1,117          (152)         4,104 
Income before Income Taxes                    10,696          8,733           617         20,046 
Rental Equipment Acquisitions                 20,028         14,904            --         34,932 
Accounts Receivable, net (period end)         12,330         10,564         4,260         27,154 
Rental Equipment, at cost (period end)       252,381         81,626            --        334,007 
Utilization (Period end)(3)                    82.4%          65.4% 
Average Utilization(3)                         81.0%          58.8% 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
(1)  Operates under the trade name Mobile Modular Management Corporation 
 
(2)  Operates under the trade name RenTelco 
 
(3)  Utilization is calculated each month by dividing the cost of rental 
     equipment on rent by the total cost of rental equipment excluding new 
     equipment inventory and accessory equipment. The average utilization for 
     the period is calculated using the average costs of rental equipment. 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
        RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
        This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements, which constitute 
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements appear in a number of places. 
Such statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such 
as "believes", "expects", "may", "estimates", "will", "should", "plans" or 
"anticipates" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology, or by discussions of strategy. Readers are cautioned that any such 
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve 
significant risks and uncertainties, and that actual results may vary materially 
from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. 
These factors include the effectiveness of management's strategies and 
decisions, general economic and business conditions, new or modified statutory 
or regulatory requirements and changing prices and market conditions. This 
report identifies other factors that could cause such differences. No assurance 
can be given that these are all of the factors that could cause actual results 
to vary materially from the forward-looking statements. 
 
 
THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2001 AND 2000 
 
         Rental revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2001 
increased $2.9 million (13%) and $7.6 million (17%) over the comparative periods 
in 2000. Mobile Modular Management Corporation ("MMMC") contributed $3.2 million 
and RenTelco contributed $4.4 million of the six-month increase. MMMC's rental 
revenues increased as a result of strong classroom demand in California. As of 
June 30, 2001, an average of $29.4 million more modular equipment was on rent 
compared to a year earlier with the average monthly yield for all modular 
equipment increasing from 1.98% in 2000 to 2.01% in 2001. At June 30, 2001, 
modular utilization, excluding new equipment inventory, was 84.9% and average 
utilization for the six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 was 85.1% and 81.0%, 
respectively. RenTelco's rental revenue increased a modest 13% over the second 
quarter of 2000, but declined by 6% from the levels achieved during the first 
quarter of 2001, reflecting the broad-based weakness in the telecommunications 
industry. As of June 30, 2001, an average of $9.8 million more electronics 
equipment was on rent compared to a year earlier with the average monthly yield 
for all electronics equipment increasing from 3.64% in 2000 to 3.66% in 2001. At 
June 30, 2001, electronics utilization was 49.3% compared to 65.4% a year 
earlier and average utilization for the six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 
was 57.0% and 58.8%, respectively. 
 
         Depreciation on rental equipment for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2001 increased $1.0 million (17%) and $2.1 million (19%) over the 
comparative periods in 2000 due to higher amounts of rental equipment. For the 
six months ended June 30, 2001, average modular rental equipment, at cost, 
increased $23.0 million (9%) and average electronics rental equipment, at cost, 
increased $19.7 million (26%) over the 2000 comparative period. Other direct 
costs of rental operations for the three months ended June 30, 2001 decreased 
$1.0 million (20%) primarily due to an impairment write-off of $832,000 in the 
year earlier period of rental equipment beyond economic repair. For the 
six-month comparative period these costs remained approximately the same. 
Consolidated gross margin on rents for the three and six months increased from 
54.3% and 55.7% in 2000 to 59.3% and 58.3% in 2001, respectively. 
 
         Rental related services revenues for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2001 increased $343,000 (9%) and $1.2 million (16%) over the 
comparative periods in 2000 due to the increased modular rental activity. Gross 
margin on rental related services for the six-month period decreased from 44.4% 
in 2000 to 36.8% in 2001. 
 
         Sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2001 increased $1.0 
million (10%) and $60,000 (less than 1%) as compared to the same periods in 
2000. Consolidated gross margin on sales for the six months ended June 30, 2001 
was 32.5% compared to 31.0% for the same period in 2000. Sales continue to occur 
routinely as a normal part of the Company's rental business; however, these 
sales can fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year depending on 
customer demands, requirements and 
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funding. Looking forward, in a slowing economy, the Company would anticipate 
fewer sales opportunities for the remainder of 2001 as companies, in an effort 
to conserve capital, are less likely to purchase modular and electronics 
equipment. 
 
         Enviroplex's backlog of orders as of June 30, 2001 and 2000 was $11.8 
million and $12.3 million, respectively. Backlog is not significant in MMMC's 
modular business or in RenTelco's electronics business. 
 
         Selling and administrative expenses for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2001 increased $892,000 (19%) and $2.0 million (21%) over the 
comparative periods in 2000. The six-month increase is primarily due to higher 
personnel and benefit costs of $777,000, increased web development and 
maintenance costs of $413,000, higher bad debt expense of $196,000 and increased 
consultant fees related to legal, accounting, and investor relations of 
$198,000. 
 
         Interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2001 
decreased $307,000 (14%) and $107,000 (3%) over the 2000 comparative periods as 
a result of lower average interest rates despite higher average borrowing level 
in 2001. The higher debt levels funded part of the Company's capital 
expenditures, payment of dividends and repurchases of common stock. 
 
         Income before provision for taxes for the three months ended June 30, 
2001 increased $2.3 million (21%) while net income increased $1.2 million (19%) 
to $7.6 million with earnings per diluted share increasing 19% from $0.52 per 
share in 2000 to $0.62 per share in 2001. Income before provision for taxes for 
the six months ended June 30, 2001 increased $4.0 million (20%) while net income 
increased $2.2 million (18%) to $14.3 million with earnings per diluted share 
increasing 20% from $0.97 per share in 2000 to $1.16 per share in 2001. 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
        This section contains statements that constitute "forward-looking 
statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 
of 1995. See the statement at the beginning of this Item for cautionary 
information with respect to such forward-looking statements. 
 
        The Company's operations produced a positive cash flow from operations 
for the six months ended June 30, 2001 of $31.4 million as compared to $21.9 
million for the year earlier period primarily due to the reduction in the 
accounts receivable. During 2001, the primary uses of cash have been to purchase 
of $31.4 million of additional rental equipment to satisfy customer 
requirements, other capital expenditures of $891,000, payment of dividends of 
$3.6 million to the Company's shareholders, and debt reduction of $4.4 million. 
 
        The Company had total liabilities to equity ratios of 2.04 to 1 and 2.28 
to 1 as of June 30, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively. The debt (notes 
payable) to equity ratios were 1.02 to 1 and 1.16 to 1 as of June 30, 2001 and 
December 31, 2000, respectively. Both ratios have decreased since December 31, 
2000 as a result of earnings and debt reduction. 
 
        The Company has made purchases of shares of its common stock from time 
to time in the over-the-counter market (NASDAQ) and/or through privately 
negotiated, large block transactions under an authorization of the Board of 
Directors. Shares repurchased by the Company are cancelled and returned to the 
status of authorized but unissued stock. During 2001, no shares have been 
repurchased. As of August 8, 2001, 805,800 shares remain authorized for 
repurchase. 
 
        The Company believes that its needs for working capital and capital 
expenditures through 2001 and beyond will be adequately met by cash flow and 
bank borrowings. 
 
 
MARKET RISK 
 
         The Company currently has no material derivative financial instruments 
that expose the Company to significant market risk. The Company is exposed to 
cash flow and fair value risk due to 
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changes in interest rates with respect to its notes payable. As of June 30, 
2001, the Company believes that the carrying amounts of its financial 
instruments (cash and notes payable) approximate fair value. 
 
 
                            PART II OTHER INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
        On June 5, 2001 McGrath RentCorp announced the settlement of a lawsuit 
alleging a failure to warn about certain chemicals associated with building 
materials used in portable classrooms in California. The lawsuit was filed by As 
You Sow, a corporation that has served as a plaintiff in numerous lawsuits 
alleging similar failures to warn. The Company and its subsidiary Enviroplex, 
Inc. were two of nineteen named defendants, all of whom are involved in the 
portable classroom industry in the State of California. The parties reached an 
accord whereby the settling defendants agreed to begin using alternative 
buildings materials, including certain engineered wood products, adhesives, 
caulks, tapes, mastics and glues, and to provide ventilation in the sub-roof 
areas on all products ordered for manufacture after July 1, 2001. In addition, 
the settling defendants agreed to issue certain advisories regarding the 
availability of alternative materials and the advisability of airing out certain 
types of carpeting upon installation. In refurbishing units, to the extent such 
materials are needed, settling defendants will use those alternative building 
materials and install sub-roof ventilation as appropriate. Defendants agreed to 
pay $150,000 to As You Sow to be used for grant-making purposes in reducing 
exposures to chemicals, and to increase consumer, worker and community awareness 
of the health hazards posed by chemicals. Defendants also agreed to pay As You 
Sow's fees and costs in bringing the action. 
 
 
ITEM 3.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
        On May 30, 2001, the Company declared a quarterly dividend on its Common 
Stock; the dividend was $0.16 per share. Subject to its continued profitability 
and favorable cash flow, the Company intends to continue the payment of 
quarterly dividends. 
 
ITEM 4.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
(a)     Exhibits. 
 
 
 
        NUMBER    DESCRIPTION                                METHOD OF FILING 
        ------    -----------                                ---------------- 
                                                        
          4.1     Amended and Restated Credit Agreement      Filed herewith. 
          4.2     $5,000,000 Committed Credit Facility       Filed herewith. 
 
 
(b)     Reports on Form 8-K. 
 
            No reports on Form 8-K have been filed during the quarter for which 
this report is filed. 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
        PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, THE REGISTRANT HAS DULY CAUSED THIS REPORT TO BE SIGNED ON 
ITS BEHALF BY THE UNDERSIGNED, THEREUNTO DULY AUTHORIZED. 
 
 
        Date August 8, 2001           MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
 
                                      By:  /s/  Thomas J. Sauer 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                      Thomas J. Sauer 
                                      Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
                                      (Chief Accounting Officer) 
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                                 EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
 
 
 
NUMBER       DESCRIPTION                                  METHOD OF FILING 
- ------       -----------                                  ---------------- 
                                                     
  4.1        Amended and Restated Credit Agreement        Filed herewith. 
  4.2        $5,000,000 Committed Credit Facility         Filed herewith. 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.1 
 
 
 
                  SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 
      THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of June 28, 
2001 is entered into by and among McGRATH RENTCORP, a California corporation 
(the "Borrower"), the banks listed on the signature pages hereof (individually a 
"Bank" and collectively "Banks"), and UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A., as agent 
(the "Agent") for Banks. 
 
 
                                    Recitals 
 
      A. The parties hereto desire to amend and restate that certain Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 30, 1999 by and among the Borrower, 
Banks and Agent, as agent for Banks (the "Existing Agreement"). 
 
      B. In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 
herein, the parties hereto agree to amend and restate the Existing Agreement as 
follows: 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 1 
 
                                   DEFINITIONS 
 
      1.1 Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall 
have the meanings set forth below: 
 
           "Active Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary which owns any material 
assets or is engaged in any operations or business. 
 
           "Adjusted Borrowing Base" means the excess, if any, of (a) the 
Borrowing Base over (b) Outside Debt. 
 
           "Adjusted Net Income" means for any period of four (4) consecutive 
fiscal quarters, determined as of the last day of such period, the sum of (a) 
Net Income, (b) provision for income taxes, (c) interest expense, (d) 
depreciation, (e) amortization, and (f) minority interest in the Net Income of 
any Subsidiary, and minus minority interest in the Net Loss of any Subsidiary. 
 
           "Affiliate" means, as to any Person, any other Person which directly 
or indirectly controls, or is under common control with, or is controlled by, 
such Person. As used in this definition, "control" (and the correlative terms, 
"controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean possession, directly 
or indirectly, of power to direct or cause the direction of management or 
policies (whether through ownership of securities or partnership or other 
ownership interests, by contract or otherwise). 
 
           "Agreement" means this Amended and Restated Credit Agreement as 
originally executed and as the same may from time to time be amended, 
supplemented or restated. 
 
           "Applicable Law" means, with respect to any Bank at any time, the Law 
of any jurisdiction applicable to Loans made by such Bank to Borrower hereunder, 
including, without limitation, Laws prescribing the maximum rates of interest on 
loans and extensions of credit. 
 
           "Applicable Margin" means the percentage to be added to a Rate Option 
in determining the rate of interest applicable to a Loan, as set forth in 
Section 2.3 hereof. 
 
           "Authorized Officer" means the President, or Senior Vice President, 
or Chief Financial Officer of Borrower. 
 
           "Bank" means, individually, Union Bank of California, N.A., First 
Union National Bank, Comerica Bank - California, Bank of America, N.A., Wells 
Fargo Bank, N.A., and their respective successors, and such other banks as may 
become party to this Agreement, collectively referred to herein as "Banks." 
 
           "Borrowing Base" means, at any time and from time to time, an amount 
equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of Borrower's Eligible Equipment. 
 
           "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which 
national banks are generally open for business in San Francisco, California and, 
with respect to Eurodollar Loans, such a day on which dealings in foreign 
currencies and exchange are also carried on in the interbank Eurodollar market. 



 
           "Capitalized Lease Obligations" means any and all lease obligations 
that, in accordance with GAAP, are required to be capitalized on the books of a 
lessee. 
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           "Commercial Account" means Borrower's deposit account number 
001-201-6481 at the office of Agent. 
 
           "Commitment" means, subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and adjusted from time to time in accordance therewith, the 
obligation of Banks to make Loans to Borrower in the aggregate principal amount 
outstanding at any time not to exceed One Hundred Twenty Million Dollars 
($120,000,000). 
 
           "Commitment Fee" means the commitment fee payable by Borrower 
pursuant to and as provided in Section 3.7. 
 
           "Compliance Certificate" means a certificate in the form of Exhibit 
"A" to be delivered to Agent in accordance with Section 7.3(c). 
 
           "Debt" means, with respect to Borrower, the aggregate amount of, 
without duplication, (a) all obligations for borrowed money, including, without 
limitation, the Loans, and Real Property Debt, (b) all obligations evidenced by 
bonds, other than assessment and other special bonds associated with real 
property holdings, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (c) all 
Capitalized Lease Obligations, (d) all obligations or liabilities of others 
secured by a Lien on any asset of Borrower, whether or not such obligation or 
liability is assumed, and (e) all obligations or liabilities of Borrower, 
whether direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, with respect to the 
obligations or liability of another, including, without limitation, all 
guaranties. 
 
           "Debt Service" means, determined as of the last day of a fiscal 
quarter, the sum of (a) all payments of principal on Debt (excluding any Loans) 
scheduled to become due or to be made during the succeeding period of four (4) 
consecutive quarters, (b) the amount outstanding under all Loans divided by two 
and one-half (2.50), and (c) the actual aggregate amount of interest on Debt 
(including any Loans) accrued during the period of four (4) consecutive quarters 
then ended. 
 
           "Default" means any event that with the giving of notice or passage 
of time, or both, would be an Event of Default. 
 
           "Dollars and $" means United States dollars or such coin or currency 
of the United States of America as at the time of payment shall be legal tender 
for the payment of public and private debts in the United States. 
 
           "EBIT" means, for any period of four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters, 
determined as of the last day of such period, the sum of (a) Net Income, (b) 
provision for income taxes, (c) interest expense, and (d) minority interest in 
the Net Income of any Subsidiary, and minus minority interest in the Net Loss of 
any Subsidiary. 
 
           "EBITDA" means, for any period of four (4) consecutive fiscal 
quarters, determined as of the last day of such period, EBIT minus non-cash 
items of income and extraordinary income and expense, plus (a) depreciation, (b) 
amortization expense, and (c) other non-cash charges. 
 
           "Effective Date" means June 28, 2001, provided that all conditions 
precedent specified in Section 5.1 have been satisfied and that satisfaction of 
such conditions precedent has been confirmed by written notice delivered by the 
Agent to Borrower and Banks. 
 
           "Eligible Assignee" means (a) any Bank and any Affiliate of any Bank, 
and (b) any commercial bank, savings and loan association, savings bank, finance 
company, insurance company, mutual fund or other financial institution, fund or 
investor or other Person which has been approved in writing as an Eligible 
Assignee for purposes of this Agreement by both Agent and, unless an Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower, as provided in Section 
11.20. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event 
shall any Person that is primarily engaged in a business in competition with 
Borrower, or any Affiliate of such Person, be an Eligible Assignee. 
 
           "Eligible Equipment" means equipment which is an asset of Borrower 
designated as "Rental Equipment, net" on Borrower's most recent financial 
statements, in accordance with GAAP, or any substitute for such designation, and 
which: 
 
           (a) is owned by Borrower free and clear of all Liens and rights of 
others except Permitted Liens; 
 
           (b) is (i) permanently located in the United States of America, and 
(ii) located outside of the United States of America, provided that the net book 



value of equipment under clause (ii) may not exceed ten percent (10%) of the 
total net book value of all equipment under clauses (i) and (ii); and 
 
           (c) is not, in the reasonable opinion of Agent, obsolete, unsalable, 
unfit for use or otherwise unacceptable to Agent. 
 
           "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
the same may from time to time be amended or supplemented, including any rules 
or regulations issued in connection therewith and any successor statute. 
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           "Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage" means, with respect to each 
Eurodollar Period, the percentage, as prescribed by the Federal Reserve Board, 
for determining reserve requirements (including any marginal, supplemental or 
emergency reserves) applicable to Eurocurrency liabilities pursuant to 
Regulation D, or any other then applicable regulation of the Board of Governors 
which prescribes reserve requirements applicable to 'Eurocurrency liabilities,' 
as presently defined in Regulation D, in each case, as applicable to Agent. The 
Interbank Rate (Reserve Adjusted) shall be adjusted automatically on the 
effective date of any change in the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage. For 
purposes of this definition, any Eurodollar Loans hereunder shall be deemed to 
be Eurocurrency liabilities. The Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage shall be 
conclusive and binding, absent manifest error, even if estimated or projected. 
 
           "Eurodollar Loan" means any Loan which bears interest at a rate 
determined with reference to the Interbank Rate (Reserve Adjusted). 
 
           "Eurodollar Period" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the 
period commencing on the date specified by Borrower in a Loan Request and ending 
one (1), two (2), three (3), six (6) or (if available to Banks) twelve (12) 
months thereafter, as specified by Borrower in such Loan Request; provided that 
 
           (a) the first day of any Eurodollar Period shall be a Business Day; 
 
           (b) no Eurodollar Period for any Eurodollar Loan made prior to the 
Termination Date shall extend beyond the Termination Date; 
 
           (c) no Eurodollar Period shall extend beyond a date when a principal 
payment is due if the principal balance of the Loans after such payment will be 
less than the aggregate Eurodollar Loans outstanding; and 
 
           (d) any Eurodollar Period which would otherwise end on a day which is 
not a Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless 
such next succeeding Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case 
such Eurodollar Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day. 
 
           "Event of Default" means an event set forth in Article 9. 
 
           "Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any period, a fluctuating 
interest rate per annum equal for each day during such period to (a) the 
weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with 
members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers, as 
published for such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the preceding 
Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; or (b) if such rate is 
not published for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the quotations 
at approximately 10:00 a.m. San Francisco time for such day on such transactions 
received by Agent from three (3) federal funds brokers of recognized standing 
selected by it. 
 
           "Federal Reserve Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System or any governmental authority succeeding to its functions. 
 
           "Funded Debt" means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate 
amount of Debt of Borrower as defined in clauses (a), (b) and (c) of the 
definition of Debt. 
 
           "Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, 
the ratio of Borrower's Funded Debt as of such date, to Borrower's EBITDA for 
the four (4) consecutive fiscal quarter period ended most recently prior to such 
date. 
 
           "Funding Date" means the date of the funding of a Loan, including the 
date a Loan is converted from a Loan with one Rate Option to a Loan with another 
Rate Option. 
 
           "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 
applied. 
 
           "Governmental Agency" means (a) any international, foreign, federal, 
state, county or municipal government or political subdivision thereof, or (b) 
any governmental or quasi-governmental agency, authority, board, bureau, 
commission, department, instrumentality or public body, or (c) any court or 
administrative tribunal. 
 
           "Interbank Rate" means, with respect to each Eurodollar Period, the 
rate per annum determined by the Agent two (2) Business Days prior to the 
beginning of such Eurodollar Period, at which the Agent is offered deposits in 
dollars by major banks in the interbank eurodollar market at or about 11:00 a.m. 
London time, for delivery on the first day of such Eurodollar Period, in an 



amount and period equal to the amount of the Eurodollar Loan to be outstanding 
during such Eurodollar Period. 
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           "Interbank Rate (Reserve Adjusted)" means, with respect to any 
Eurodollar Loan for any Eurodollar Period, a rate per annum (rounded upwards, if 
necessary, to the nearest one-hundredth of one percent (1/100 of 1%)) determined 
pursuant to the following formula: 
 
                                                      Interbank Rate 
       Interbank Rate (Reserve Adjusted) = ----------------------------------- 
                                            1-Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage 
 
           "Law" means collectively all international, foreign, federal, state 
and local statutes, treaties, rules, regulations, directives, ordinances, 
policies, orders and codes. 
 
           "Liabilities" means the aggregate amount of all liabilities of 
Borrower that would, in accordance with GAAP, be required to be set forth on a 
balance sheet as liabilities, excluding deferred taxes. 
 
           "Lien" means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, 
security interest, encumbrance, lien or charge of any kind, whether voluntarily 
incurred or arising by operation of law or otherwise, affecting any asset of 
Borrower, including any agreement to give any of the foregoing, any conditional 
sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature of a security 
interest, and/or the filing of or agreement to give any financing statement 
(other than a financing statement which disclaims the existence of a security 
interest and states that it is filed only as a precaution) under the Uniform 
Commercial Code or comparable Law with respect to any asset of Borrower. 
 
           "Loan" means a Revolving Loan or, if the context requires, the 
Revolving Loans. 
 
           "Loan Documents" means, collectively, this Agreement, the Notes, and 
any and all other agreements, documents, instruments and certificates of any 
type or nature heretofore or hereafter executed or delivered by Borrower to 
Agent or Banks in any way relating to or in furtherance of this Agreement, and 
each Continuing Guaranty executed and delivered by an Active Subsidiary, in each 
case either as originally executed or as the same may from time to time be 
supplemented, modified, amended, restated or extended. 
 
           "Loan Request" means a written request by Borrower for a Loan, 
substantially in the form of Exhibit "B", duly executed on Borrower's behalf and 
properly completed to provide all information required to be included therein. 
 
           "Maximum Amount" means, with respect to each Loan by each Bank at any 
time, the maximum amount of interest which, under Applicable Law, such Bank is 
permitted to charge with respect to such Loan. 
 
           "Net Income" has the meaning ascribed to it in accordance with GAAP. 
 
           "Net Loss" has the meaning ascribed to it in accordance with GAAP. 
 
           "Notes" means, collectively, the Revolving Notes. 
 
           "Obligations" means all present and future obligations of every kind 
or nature of Borrower or at any time and from time to time owed to Agent or 
Banks or any one or more of them, under any one or more of the Loan Documents, 
whether due or to become due, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, 
or contingent or non-contingent, including obligations of performance as well as 
obligations of payment, and including interest that accrues after the 
commencement of any proceeding under any debtor relief law by or against 
Borrower. 
 
           "Officer's Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form 
of Exhibit "C", completed and duly executed by an Authorized Officer of 
Borrower. 
 
           "Outside Debt" means all Debt other than Loans and Real Property 
Debt. 
 
           "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. 
 
           "Permitted Lien" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 8.3. 
 
           "Person" means any individual or entity. 
 
           "Plan" means an employee pension or other benefit plan of Borrower 
subject to Title IV of ERISA or to which Section 412 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1954, as amended, applies, other than Borrower's Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan as amended in existence as of the date of this Agreement. 
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           "Pro Rata Share" means, with respect to each Bank, the percentage set 
forth next to that Bank's name as follows: 
 
 
 
               Bank                                Pro Rata Share 
               ----                                -------------- 
                                                 
               Union Bank of 
                 California, N.A.                  28.333333332% 
 
               First Union National Bank           21.666666667% 
 
               Bank of America, N.A.               16.666666667% 
 
               Comerica Bank - California          16.666666667% 
 
               Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.              16.666666667% 
 
 
           "Rate Option" means one of the interest rate options available to 
Borrower for the Loans as provided in Section 2.3.2, which are the Interbank 
Rate (Reserve Adjusted) or Reference Rate. 
 
           "Real Property Debt" means Debt which is secured by any or all of 
Borrower's real property holdings. 
 
           "Reference Rate" means, at any time, Agent's floating commercial loan 
rate then most recently announced by Agent at San Francisco, California as its 
prime or reference rate. Each change in the Reference Rate shall take effect 
hereunder on the effective date of the change in such Reference Rate. The 
Reference Rate is used as a reference point for pricing certain loans. Agent may 
price its loans at, above or below the Reference Rate. 
 
           "Reference Rate Loan" means any Loan which bears interest at a rate 
determined by reference to the Reference Rate. 
 
           "Regulation D" means Regulation D, as at any time amended, of the 
Federal Reserve System, or any other regulation in substance substituted 
therefor. 
 
           "Required Banks" means Banks having Pro Rata Shares at least 
sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the Commitment or, if the 
Commitment has been terminated, Banks holding at least sixty-six and two-thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Loans. 
 
           "Revolving Credit Facility" means the credit accommodation provided 
to Borrower as more fully described in Section 2.1. 
 
           "Revolving Loan" means an extension of credit under the Revolving 
Credit Facility in accordance with Section 2.1. 
 
           "Revolving Loan Commitment Period" means the period from and 
including the date of this Agreement to, but not including, the Revolving Loan 
Termination Date. 
 
           "Revolving Loan Termination Date" means the earlier of (a) the 
Termination Date, or (b) the date Banks may terminate making Loans or accelerate 
the due date of the Revolving Loans pursuant to the rights of Banks under 
Article 9. 
 
           "Revolving Note" means each promissory note payable to a Bank 
evidencing the Revolving Loans, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit 
"D", with appropriate insertions. 
 
           "Subsidiary" means any corporation at least the majority of whose 
securities having ordinary voting power for the election of directors (other 
than securities having such power only by reason of the happening of a 
contingency) are at the time owned by Borrower and/or one or more Subsidiaries. 
 
           "Tangible Net Worth" means, with respect to Borrower, its assets as 
determined in accordance with GAAP, minus (a) Liabilities and (b) all intangible 
assets of Borrower, including, without limitation (i) all assets which should be 
classified as intangible assets (such as goodwill, patents, trademarks, 
copyrights, franchises, and deferred charges (including unamortized debt 
discount and research and development costs)), (ii) treasury stock, (iii) cash 
held in a sinking or other similar fund established for the purpose of 
redemption or other retirement of capital stock, (iv) to the extent not already 



deducted from total assets, reserves for depreciation, depletion, obsolescence 
or amortization of properties and other reserves or appropriations of retained 
earnings which have been or 
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should be established in connection with the business conducted by Borrower, and 
(v) any revaluation or other write-up in book value of assets subsequent to the 
fiscal year of Borrower last ended at the date of this Agreement. 
 
           "Termination Date" means June 30, 2004. 
 
 
      1.2 Accounting Terms; Financial Tests. All accounting terms not 
specifically defined in this Agreement shall be construed, and all financial 
data and ratios required to be submitted pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
prepared, in conformity with GAAP and on a consolidated basis for Borrower and 
its Subsidiaries except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement. In 
the event that GAAP changes during the term of this Agreement such that the 
financial covenants contained herein would then be calculated in a different 
manner or with different components, Borrower and Banks agree to amend this 
Agreement in such respects as are necessary to conform those covenants as 
criteria for evaluating Borrower's financial condition to substantially the same 
criteria as were effective prior to such change in GAAP. 
 
      1.3 Exhibits and Schedules. All Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement, 
either as originally existing or as the same may from time to time be 
supplemented, modified or amended, are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
      1.4 Miscellaneous Terms. All terms defined in this Agreement shall be 
applicable to both the singular and plural forms thereof, as the context 
requires. The term "or" is disjunctive; the term "and" is conjunctive. The term 
"shall" is mandatory; the term "may" is permissive. The term "including" is by 
way of example and not limitation. Terms not otherwise expressly defined herein 
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the California Uniform Commercial 
Code, if applicable. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 2 
 
                                   THE CREDITS 
 
      2.1. Revolving Loan Facility. 
 
           2.1.1 General. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
at any time and from time to time, during the Revolving Loan Commitment Period, 
each Bank severally, and not jointly, according to its Pro Rata Share, agrees to 
make Revolving Loans to Borrower in such amounts as Borrower may request that do 
not exceed in the aggregate at any one time outstanding the amount of such 
Bank's Pro Rata Share of the lesser of the Commitment or the Adjusted Borrowing 
Base. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Borrower may 
borrow, repay and reborrow, in whole or in part, under the Revolving Credit 
Facility at any time prior to the Revolving Loan Termination Date. The Revolving 
Loans and all amounts owing with respect thereto shall be due and payable on the 
Revolving Loan Termination Date. No Bank shall be responsible for any default by 
any other Bank in such other Bank's obligation to make a Revolving Loan 
hereunder, nor shall the Pro Rata Share of any Bank be increased or decreased as 
a result of the default by any other Bank in such other Bank's obligation to 
make a Revolving Loan hereunder. 
 
           2.1.2 Revolving Notes. The Revolving Loans shall be evidenced by a 
Revolving Note for each Bank in the principal amount of such Bank's Pro Rata 
Share of the Commitment. Each Bank is hereby authorized to record the amount and 
type of each Revolving Loan made by such Bank and the date and the amount of 
each payment or prepayment of principal thereof on the schedule annexed to its 
Revolving Note, or on its books and records, and any such recordation shall, in 
the absence of manifest error, constitute prima facie evidence of the accuracy 
of the information so recorded; provided, however, that failure by a Bank to 
make any such recordation on its Revolving Note or on its books and records 
shall not affect any of the Obligations of Borrower under such Revolving Note or 
this Agreement. 
 
      2.2. [Intentionally Omitted] 
 
      2.3 Interest on Loans. The Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum 
equal to the lesser of (a) the sum of (i) the Applicable Margin plus (ii) the 
Rate Option(s) specified by Borrower pursuant to a Loan Request, and (b) the 
Maximum Amount; provided, however, that interest on overdue payments shall bear 
interest in accordance with Section 2.3.3. 
 
           2.3.1. General. Interest on the outstanding principal balance of the 
Loans shall accrue daily from the date of each Loan until payment in full. 
 
           2.3.2. Rate Options and Applicable Margins. The Rate Options and 



Applicable Margins for Loans shall be determined based upon the type of Loan and 
the current Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio, as set forth in the table below: 
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        Type of Loan/               Funded Debt/               Applicable Margin on 
        Rate Option                 EBITDA Ratio                 Revolving Loans 
        ------------                ------------               -------------------- 
                                                          
        EURODOLLAR LOANS/        Equal to or greater                  1.45% 
        INTERBANK RATE           than 2.25 to 1.00 
        (RESERVE ADJUSTED): 
 
                                 Equal to or greater                  1.30% 
                                 than 1.75 to 1.00 but 
                                 less than 2.25 to 1.00 
 
                                 Equal to or greater                  1.15% 
                                 than 1.25 to 1.00 but 
                                 less than 1.75 to 1.00 
 
                                 Less than 1.25 to 1.00               1.00% 
 
        REFERENCE RATE LOANS 
        /REFERENCE RATE:         [Not applicable]                     0.00% 
 
 
The Applicable Margin shall be subject to reduction or increase, as applicable 
and as set forth in the table above, on a quarterly basis according to the 
performance of Borrower as measured by the Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio for the 
immediately preceding fiscal quarter of Borrower. Any such increase or reduction 
in the Applicable Margin shall be effective on the next Business Day after 
receipt by Agent of the applicable financial statements and the corresponding 
Compliance Certificate. If the financial statements and the Compliance 
Certificate of Borrower setting forth the Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio is not 
received by the Agent by the date required pursuant to this Agreement, the 
Applicable Margin shall be determined as if the Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio exceeds 
2.25 to 1.00, commencing on the date when Borrower's time to deliver such 
financial statements and Compliance Certificate shall have expired and 
continuing until such time as such financial statements and Compliance 
Certificate are received and any Event of Default resulting from a failure to 
timely deliver such financial statements or Compliance Certificate has been 
waived in writing by the Required Banks. 
 
           2.3.3. Interest on Overdue Payments. Overdue payments of principal 
(and of interest to the extent permitted by law) on the Loans shall bear 
interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the lesser of (i) the 
Reference Rate plus two percent (2%) or (ii) the Maximum Amount until such 
unpaid amount has been paid in full (whether before or after judgment). All 
interest provided for in this Section 2.3.3 shall be compounded monthly and 
payable on demand. 
 
           2.3.4. Computation. Interest shall be computed for the actual number 
of days elapsed on the basis of a year consisting of 360 days from, and 
including, the first day of a Loan, but excluding, the last day thereof. 
 
      2.4 Procedure for Loans. 
 
           2.4.1 General. Borrower shall deliver to Agent an irrevocable Loan 
Request (i) no later than 10:00 a.m. San Francisco time on the proposed Funding 
Date of any Reference Rate Loan, and (ii) at least three (3) Business Days prior 
to the Revolving Loan Termination Date or the proposed Funding Date of any 
Eurodollar Loan. Each Loan Request shall specify: 
 
                (a) the Funding Date of such Loan, which shall be a Business 
Day; 
 
                (b) the amount of such Loan; 
 
                (c) the Rate Option(s) selected for such Loan; and 
 
                (d) if applicable, the Eurodollar Period(s) therefor. 
 
If Borrower shall fail to specify a Rate Option, such Loan shall be made as a 
Reference Rate Loan. If Borrower shall fail to specify a Eurodollar Period with 
respect to a proposed Eurodollar Loan, Borrower shall be deemed to have elected 
a Eurodollar Period of one (1) month's duration. 
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           2.4.2. Alternate Procedure. Alternatively, on any Business Day, an 
Authorized Officer , may give Agent telephonic notice of the proposed Loan 
within the notice periods, and specifying the information, required in Section 
2.4.1, provided that (a) an Authorized Officer may designate any other person to 
provide such telephonic notice for a specific period of time by delivering to 
Agent by telecopy a copy of such person's authorization to give telephonic 
notice of the proposed Loan within the notice periods, which authorization must 
be signed by an Authorized Officer, and (b) such telephonic notice of the 
proposed Loan shall be confirmed in writing by delivery to Agent of a Loan 
Request signed by an Authorized Officer no later than the third day after such 
telephonic notice. All such telephonic notices shall be irrevocable. Neither 
Agent nor Bank shall incur any liability to Borrower in acting upon any such 
telephonic notice that Agent believes in good faith to have been given by a 
person duly authorized to give such notice on behalf of Borrower or for 
otherwise acting in good faith under this Section 2.4.2. 
 
           2.4.3. Extensions and Conversions. Subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, Borrower may continue a Rate Option for any 
Eurodollar Loan, or convert any Loan into a different Rate Option by complying 
with the provisions of Section 2.4.1 or 2.4.2 in the same manner as if Borrower 
were requesting a new Loan; provided, however, that Eurodollar Loans may be 
converted without penalty only on the last day of the applicable Eurodollar 
Period. 
 
           2.4.4. Minimum Amount of Revolving Loans. Loan Requests for Revolving 
Loans shall be in one or the other of the following minimum amounts, as the case 
may be, with integral multiples of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) in 
excess of such minimum amounts: 
 
                  (a) for a Reference Rate Loan, a minimum amount of Four 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000); and 
 
                  (b) for a Eurodollar Loan, a minimum amount of One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000). 
 
           2.4.5. Minimum Payment of Revolving Loans. The Company shall have the 
right to prepay the Revolving Loans in whole or in part in minimum principal 
amounts equal to at least One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) and in 
integral multiples of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) in excess of such 
minimum amount. 
 
      2.5. Funding of Loans. 
 
           (a) Promptly after receipt of a Loan Request (or telephonic notice 
thereof), Agent shall notify each Bank of the amount of the proposed Loan, the 
Pro Rata Share of such Bank, and the Rate Option and (if applicable) Eurodollar 
Period selected by Borrower therefor. 
 
           (b) In the case of Revolving Loans, each Bank shall make the amount 
of its Loan available to Agent, in same day funds, at the office of Agent 
specified on the signature pages of this Agreement no later than noon San 
Francisco time on the Funding Date. Agent shall make the proceeds of such Loans 
available to Borrower on such Funding Date by causing an amount of same day 
funds equal to the proceeds of all such Loans received by Agent to be credited 
to Borrower's Commercial Account no later than 2:00 p.m. San Francisco time on 
the Funding Date. 
 
      2.6. Non-Receipt of Funds by Agent. Unless the Borrower or a Bank, as the 
case may be, notifies Agent prior to the date on which it is scheduled to make 
payment to Agent of (a) in the case of a Bank, the proceeds of a Loan or (b) in 
the case of the Borrower, a payment of principal, interest or fees to Agent for 
the account of Banks, that it does not intend to make such payment, Agent may 
assume that such payment has been made. Agent may, but shall not be obligated 
to, make the amount of such payment available to the intended recipient in 
reliance upon such assumption. If such Bank or the Borrower, as the case may be, 
has not in fact made such payment to Agent, the recipient of such payment shall, 
on demand by Agent, repay to Agent the amount so made available together with 
interest thereon in respect of each day during the period commencing on the date 
such amount was so made available by Agent until the date Agent recovers such 
amount at a rate per annum equal to (a) in the case of repayment by a Bank, the 
Federal Funds Effective Rate for such day or (b) in the case of repayment by the 
Borrower, the interest rate applicable to the relevant Loan. 
 
      2.7. Reduction or Termination of the Commitment. Upon not less than three 
Business Days' notice to the Agent at any time, and from time to time, Borrower 
may, at any time permanently reduce the amount of the Commitment in increments 
of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) or integral multiples thereof; provided, 
however, that the Commitment may not be reduced to an amount less than the 



amount of the then outstanding Loans. Except as expressly provided in this 
Section 2.7, the Commitment may not be adjusted by Borrower. 
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                                    ARTICLE 3 
 
                                PAYMENTS AND FEES 
 
 
      3.1. Revolving Loans. 
 
           3.1.1. Interest. Interest accrued on each Revolving Loan shall be 
payable in arrears (a) if a Reference Rate Loan, monthly on the last Business 
Day of each calendar month, or (b) if a Eurodollar Loan, on the last day of the 
Eurodollar Period and, if such Eurodollar Period is in excess of three (3) 
months, each three (3) month anniversary of the commencement of such Eurodollar 
Period. Such interest payments shall commence on the first such day after the 
Effective Date and continue through the Revolving Loan Termination Date, on 
which date all accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable in full. 
 
           3.1.2. Principal. If not sooner paid, the principal indebtedness 
evidenced by the Revolving Notes shall be due and payable as follows: 
 
                  (a) the principal amount of each Eurodollar Loan shall be 
converted, extended or due and payable on the last day of the Eurodollar Period 
for such Loan; 
 
                  (b) the amount, if any, by which the principal indebtedness 
evidenced by the Revolving Notes at any time exceeds the Commitment shall be due 
and payable immediately; and 
 
                 (c) in any event, the principal indebtedness evidenced by the 
Revolving Notes shall be due and payable on the Revolving Loan Termination Date. 
 
      3.2. [Intentionally Omitted] 
 
      3.3. Optional Repayment. Any prepayment of all or any part of any 
Eurodollar Loan on a day other than the last day of the applicable Eurodollar 
Period shall be subject to Section 4.1.4, as applicable, and Borrower shall pay 
Banks all amounts due as therein provided. 
 
      3.4. Mandatory Prepayments. If at any time the aggregate principal amount 
of the Loans outstanding exceeds the lesser of the Commitment or the Adjusted 
Borrowing Base, as each is then in effect, Borrower shall immediately upon 
demand by Agent prepay an amount equal to such excess. The provisions of Section 
3.3 shall also apply to mandatory prepayments pursuant to this Section 3.4. 
 
        3.5. Payments. All payments hereunder shall be made, irrespective of and 
without condition or deduction for any counterclaim, defense, recoupment or 
setoff, in Dollars and in immediately available funds and shall be made prior to 
10:00 a.m. San Francisco time on the date of the scheduled payment to Agent at 
its office set forth on the signature pages of this Agreement. All payments 
received after 10:00 a.m. San Francisco time shall be considered to have been 
received the next Business Day. Any payment which falls on a non-Business Day 
shall be rescheduled to the next succeeding Business Day and interest shall 
continue to accrue to such Business Day. Agent shall promptly after receipt of 
each payment cause to be distributed like funds relating to the payment of 
principal, interest, or fees ratably to each Bank for its account, in each case 
to be applied in accordance with, and subject to, the terms of this Agreement,. 
 
      3.6. Facility Fee. Borrower shall pay to Agent upon execution of this 
Agreement a facility fee in the amount of $180,000, to be distributed among 
Banks in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Shares. 
 
      3.7. Commitment Fee. Borrower shall pay to Agent from time to time, for 
distribution to each Bank in proportion to that Bank's Pro Rata Share, 
commitment fees (the "Commitment Fee") at the rate per annum shown in the table 
below which corresponds to the current Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio, applied to the 
average daily unused Commitment, computed for the actual number of days elapsed 
on the basis of a year consisting of 360 days for the period from and including 
the date of this Agreement to and including the Revolving Loan Termination Date, 
payable in arrears (i) in quarterly installments on the last Business Day of 
each March, June September and December commencing on the first such date to 
occur after the Effective Date, and (ii) on the Termination Date or the date on 
which the Commitment is terminated in full pursuant to Section 2.7 or Section 
9.2. 
 
 
 
                    FUNDED DEBT/                    COMMITMENT FEE 
                    EBITDA RATIO                      PERCENTAGE 
                    ------------                    --------------- 



                                                  
          Equal to or greater than 2.25 to 1.00          0.30% 
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          Equal to or greater than 1.75 to 1.00         0.25% 
          but less than 2.25 to 1.00 
 
          Equal to or greater than 1.25 to 1.00         0.20% 
          but less than 1.75 to 1.00 
 
          Less than 1.25 to 1.00                        0.15% 
 
 
The applicable Commitment Fee percentage shall be subject to reduction or 
increase, as applicable and as set forth in the table above, on a quarterly 
basis according to the performance of Borrower as measured by the Funded 
Debt/EBITDA Ratio for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter of Borrower. Any 
such increase or reduction in the Commitment Fee percentage shall be effective 
on the next Business Day after receipt by Agent of the applicable financial 
statements and the corresponding Compliance Certificate. If the financial 
statements and the Compliance Certificate of Borrower setting forth the Funded 
Debt/EBITDA Ratio is not received by the Agent by the date required pursuant to 
this Agreement, the Commitment Fee percentage shall be determined as if the 
Funded Debt/EBITDA Ratio exceeds 2.25 to 1.00, commencing on the date when 
Borrower's time to deliver such financial statements and Compliance Certificate 
shall have expired and continuing until such time as such financial statements 
and Compliance Certificate are received and any Event of Default resulting from 
a failure to timely deliver such financial statements or Compliance Certificate 
has been waived in writing by the Required Banks. 
 
      3.8. Agent's Fee. Borrower shall pay Agent, for Agent's own account, an 
agent fee in an amount and on the terms as mutually agreed between Agent and 
Borrower. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 4 
 
                        ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO 
                      EURODOLLAR LOANS AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
 
      4.1. Eurodollar Loans. 
 
           4.1.1. Eurodollar Increased Cost. If, as a result of the adoption or 
application of any Law, or any change therein, or in the interpretation, 
administration or application thereof, including Regulation D, or compliance by 
any Bank with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) 
from any court or Governmental Agency, central bank or comparable authority or 
instrumentality: 
 
                  (a) the basis of taxation of payments to any Bank of the 
principal of or interest on any Eurodollar Loan (other than income, franchise or 
similar taxes imposed on the gross or net income of a Bank) is changed; 
 
                  (b) any reserve, special deposit, minimum capital, capital 
ratio or similar requirements against assets of, deposits with or for the 
account of, credit extended by, or Commitment of, any Bank is imposed, modified 
or deemed applicable; or 
 
                  (c) any other condition affecting this Agreement, the 
Eurodollar Loans or Commitment is imposed on any Bank or the interbank 
eurodollar market; 
 
and any Bank determines that, by reason thereof, the cost to such Bank of making 
or maintaining any of the Eurodollar Loans is increased, or the amount of any 
sum receivable by such Bank hereunder in respect of any of the Eurodollar Loans 
is reduced; then, Borrower shall pay to such Bank within two (2) Business Days 
after demand (which demand shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth the 
basis for the calculation thereof but only to the extent not theretofore 
provided to Borrower, a copy of which shall be delivered to Agent) such 
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such additional 
cost or reduction (provided such amount has not been compensated for in the 
calculation of the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage). Determinations by a Bank 
for purposes of this Section 4.1.1 of the additional amounts required to 
compensate such Bank in respect of the foregoing circumstances shall be 
conclusive, absent manifest error. 
 
           4.1.2. Eurodollar Deposits Unavailable or Interest Rate 
Unascertainable. If any Bank determines (which determination shall be conclusive 
and binding on Borrower) that deposits of the necessary amount for a Eurodollar 
Period are not available to such Bank in the interbank Eurodollar market or 



that, by reason of circumstances affecting such market, adequate and reasonable 
means do not exist for ascertaining the Interbank Rate applicable to such 
Eurodollar Period, such Bank shall promptly give notice of such determination to 
Borrower and, thereupon, any Loan Request with respect to new Eurodollar Loan(s) 
previously given by Borrower and not yet borrowed or converted shall be deemed a 
Loan Request to make a Reference Rate Loan in the amount of the requested 
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Eurodollar Loan(s) and Borrower shall be obligated to convert any outstanding 
Eurodollar Loan(s) to Reference Rate Loans on the last day of the then current 
Eurodollar Period(s) with respect thereto. 
 
           4.1.3. Changes in Law Affecting Eurodollar Loans. If at any time 
after the date of this Agreement due to any new Law, or any interpretation 
thereof by any Governmental Agency or other regulatory authority charged with 
the administration thereof, or for any other reason arising subsequent to the 
date hereof, it shall become unlawful for any Bank to fund any Eurodollar Loan 
which it is committed to make hereunder, the obligation of such Bank to provide 
Eurodollar Loans shall, upon the happening of such event, forthwith be suspended 
for the duration of such illegality. If any such change shall make it unlawful 
for any Bank to continue Eurodollar Loans previously made by it hereunder, such 
Bank shall, upon the happening of such event, notify Borrower stating the 
reasons therefor, and Borrower shall, on the earlier of (a) the last day of the 
then current Eurodollar Period or (b) if required by such Law or interpretation, 
on such date as shall be specified in such notice, convert such unlawful 
Eurodollar Loans to Reference Rate Loans. 
 
           4.1.4. Eurodollar Loan Indemnity. Borrower agrees to indemnify each 
Bank and shall hold each Bank harmless from any loss, cost, damage or expense 
which such Bank may sustain or incur as a consequence of: 
 
                  (a) any failure by Borrower to borrow, continue or convert a 
Eurodollar Loan on a date specified in a Loan Request; 
 
                  (b) a payment, prepayment or conversion of a Eurodollar Loan 
on a day which is not the last day of the Eurodollar Period with respect 
thereto; and 
 
                  (c) the acceleration of the obligations pursuant to Section 
9.2, in each case including any such loss, cost, damage or expense arising from 
interest, fees or other charges payable by such Bank to lenders of funds 
obtained by it in order to make or maintain such Eurodollar Loan hereunder. 
 
Borrower shall pay within two (2) Business Days after demand (which demand shall 
be accompanied by a statement setting forth such Bank's calculation thereof, a 
copy of which shall be delivered to Agent) the amount due hereunder. Such 
statement and calculation shall, in the absence of manifest error, be 
conclusive. This covenant shall survive termination of this Agreement and 
payment in full of the Notes. 
 
      4.2. Discretion as to Manner of Funding. Notwithstanding any provision of 
this Agreement to the contrary, each Bank shall be entitled to fund and maintain 
its funding of all or any part of the Eurodollar Loans in any manner it may 
elect, it being understood, however, that for the purposes of this Agreement all 
determinations hereunder shall be made as if each Bank had actually funded and 
maintained each Eurodollar Loan during the Eurodollar Period for such Eurodollar 
Loan through the purchase of deposits having a maturity corresponding to the 
last day of such Eurodollar Period and bearing an interest rate equal to the 
Interbank Rate for such Eurodollar Period. Any Bank may, if it so elects, 
fulfill any commitment to make Eurodollar Loans by causing a foreign branch or 
affiliate to make or continue such Eurodollar Loans at no additional cost to 
Borrower, provided, however, that in such event such Loans shall be deemed for 
the purposes of this Agreement to have been made by such Bank, and the 
obligation of Borrower to repay such Loans shall nevertheless be to such Bank 
and shall be deemed held by such Bank, to the extent of such Loans, for the 
account of such branch or affiliate. 
 
      4.3. Capital Adequacy. If after the date hereof, the adoption or 
application of any Law regarding capital adequacy of general applicability, or 
any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration 
thereof by any Governmental Agency, central bank or comparable agency charged 
with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank 
with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy of general 
applicability (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental 
Agency, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect, of 
reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital to a level below that which 
such Bank could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance 
(taking into consideration such Bank's policies with respect to capital 
adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then such Bank may 
increase the applicable interest rate(s) set forth in Section 2.3.2 above for 
Loans from such Bank to compensate such Bank for such reduction in its rate of 
return on capital. Such increase shall be effective thirty (30) days after 
written notice thereof to Borrower; and such notice shall be accompanied by such 
Bank's statement setting forth its calculations thereof, which shall, in the 
absence of manifest error, be conclusive. 
 



 
                                    ARTICLE 5 
 
                              CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 
 
      5.1. Conditions to Effectiveness of this Agreement. The amendment and 
restatement of the Existing Agreement accomplished by this Agreement shall not 
become effective until the following conditions precedent have been satisfied: 
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           (a) Agent shall have received the following on or before the 
Effective Date, each dated as of the Effective Date or such earlier date as 
shall be acceptable to Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and 
(except for the Revolving Notes) in sufficient copies for each Bank. 
 
               (i) Counterparts of this Agreement duly executed by Borrower, 
Agent and each of the Banks. 
 
               (ii) Revolving Notes, duly executed by Borrower, one payable to 
the order of each Bank. 
 
               (iii) a Continuing Guaranty in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit "E", executed by each Active Subsidiary and Agent. 
 
               (iv) Copies of the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws of 
Borrower, together with all amendments thereto, to the extent such Articles or 
By-laws have changed, or amendments thereto have been added, since such 
documents were delivered to Agent in connection with the Existing Agreement. 
 
               (v) Copies, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary 
of Borrower, of its Board of Directors' resolutions (and resolutions of other 
bodies, if any are deemed necessary by counsel for Agent) authorizing Borrower 
to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the other Loan Documents 
executed or to be executed by Borrower and to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby and thereby. 
 
               (vi) An incumbency certificate, executed by the Secretary or an 
Assistant Secretary of Borrower, which shall identify by name and title and bear 
the specimen signatures of the officers of Borrower authorized on behalf of 
Borrower to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents executed or to be executed by Borrower and to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. 
 
               (vii) A duly completed Officer's Certificate. 
 
               (viii) An opinion of legal counsel to Borrower and Active 
Subsidiary, as to their legal existence, due authorization, execution and 
delivery and enforceability of the Loan Documents to which each is a party, and 
such other matters as Agent and the Banks may reasonably request. 
 
               (ix) Such other documents as Agent or its counsel may reasonably 
request. 
 
           (b) The representations and warranties of Borrower contained in 
Article 6 hereof and in the Officer's Certificate are true and correct as of the 
Effective Date. 
 
           (c) Borrower shall have paid the Facility Fee to Agent for the 
ratable benefit of Banks, and shall have reimbursed all attorneys' fees and 
costs of counsel to Agent incurred in the preparation and negotiation of the 
Loan Documents. 
 
      5.2. Each Loan. Banks shall not be required to make any Loan, or convert 
or continue any Loan unless on the applicable Funding Date: 
 
           (a) There exists no Default or Event of Default. 
 
           (b) The representations and warranties contained in Article 6 are 
true and correct as of such Funding Date, except to the extent that changes in 
the facts and conditions on which such representations and warranties are based 
are required or permitted under this Agreement. 
 
           (c) Borrower shall have delivered a Loan Request therefor. 
 
           (d) Borrower shall have furnished such other documents as Agent may 
have reasonably requested. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 6 
 
                   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BORROWER 
 
      In order to induce Banks to enter into this Agreement, Borrower makes the 
following representations and warranties which shall survive the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Notes, and the making of the Loans: 
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      6.1. Due Organization. Each of Borrower and its Active Subsidiaries is a 
duly organized and validly existing corporation in good standing under the laws 
of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated, and is duly qualified to 
conduct business as a foreign corporation in all jurisdictions where the failure 
to do so would have a material or adverse effect on its respective business. 
 
      6.2. Subsidiaries. Borrower has no Subsidiaries as of the date of this 
Agreement, except: Mobile Modular Management Corporation, Space-Co Corporation, 
eRentCorp.com, AskSpecs.com, Enviroplex, Inc., and eRentNetworks. Borrower has 
no Active Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreement except Enviroplex, Inc. 
 
      6.3. Requisite Power. Each of Borrower and its Active Subsidiaries has all 
requisite corporate powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, 
consents and approvals necessary to own and operate its respective properties 
and to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted, 
other than such governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals 
the absence of which will not materially or adversely effect the business, 
operations or conditions, financial or otherwise, of Borrower. Borrower has all 
requisite corporate powers to borrow the sums provided for in this Agreement, 
and to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Notes to which Borrower is 
required hereunder to be a party. The execution, delivery and performance of 
this Agreement and the Notes to which Borrower is required hereunder to be a 
party have been duly authorized by Borrower's Board of Directors and do not 
require any consent or approval of the stockholders of Borrower. Each Active 
Subsidiary has all requisite corporate power to execute and deliver its 
Guaranty, and the execution, delivery and performance of such Guaranty by it 
have been duly authorized by such Active Subsidiary's Board of Directors and do 
not require any consent or approval of the stockholders of such Active 
Subsidiary 
 
      6.4. Binding Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and 
delivered by Borrower and constitutes, and each of the Notes when executed and 
delivered by Borrower will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of 
Borrower, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as the 
enforceability thereof may be affected by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency or similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, (b) the 
availability of certain equitable remedies or limitations imposed by certain 
equitable principles of general applicability and (c) limitations based on 
statutes or on public policy limiting a Person's right to waive the benefits of 
statutory provisions or common law rights. Each Continuing Guaranty, when 
executed and delivered by an Active subsidiary, will constitute, a legal, valid 
and binding obligation of such Active Subsidiary, enforceable against it in 
accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be affected 
by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of 
creditors' rights generally, (b) the availability of certain equitable remedies 
or limitations imposed by certain equitable principles of general applicability 
and (c) limitations based on statutes or on public policy limiting a Person's 
right to waive the benefits of statutory provisions or common law rights. 
 
      6.5. Other Agreements. The execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement and the Notes will not (a) violate any provision of law or regulation 
(including, without limitation, Regulations X and U of the Federal Reserve 
Board), or any order of any governmental authority, court, arbitration board or 
tribunal or Articles of Incorporation or By-laws of Borrower, other than such 
violations which will not materially and adversely affect the business, 
operations or conditions, financial or otherwise, of Borrower or (b) result in 
the breach of, constitute a default under, contravene any provisions of, or 
result in the creation of any security interest, lien, charge or encumbrance 
upon any of the property or assets of Borrower pursuant to any indenture or 
agreement to which Borrower or any of its properties is bound. 
 
      6.6. Litigation. There is no litigation, investigation or proceeding in 
any court or before any arbitrator or governmental regulatory commission, board, 
administrative agency or other governmental authority pending, or, to the 
knowledge of Borrower, threatened against or affecting Borrower or any Active 
Subsidiary or any of its respective properties, which (a) may affect the 
performance by Borrower of this Agreement or the Notes or any of the 
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby and (b) if adversely determined 
would have a material adverse effect on the business, operations or condition, 
financial or otherwise, of Borrower or any Active Subsidiary. 
 
      6.7. Consents. No consent, license, permit, approval or authorization of, 
exemption by, notice or report to, or registration, filing or declaration with, 
any governmental authority or agency is required in connection with the 
execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of this Agreement or the Notes 
or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (except for standard 
disclosure requirements of federal securities laws and regulations). 
 



      6.8. Financials. The audited consolidated financial statement of Borrower 
as of December 31, 2000, for the fiscal year ended on such date and the 
unaudited consolidated financial statement of Borrower as of March 31, 2001 for 
the three (3) months ended on such date, copies of which have been heretofore 
delivered to the Banks, are true, complete and correct and fairly present the 
financial condition of Borrower as of such dates and the results of its 
operations for the periods then ended. The aforementioned financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis. There 
has been no material adverse change in the business, operations or condition, 
financial or otherwise, of Borrower, since the date of such financial 
statements. As of the date thereof, Borrower does not have any material 
liabilities, direct or contingent, except as disclosed in the aforementioned 
financial statements. 
 
 
 



   14 
 
      6.9. Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loans shall be used by Borrower 
for general corporate purposes. 
 
      6.10. Regulation U. Borrower is not engaged principally, or as one of its 
principal activities in the business of extending credit for the purpose of 
purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulations G, T, U 
or X of the Federal Reserve Board). No part of the proceeds of the Loans will be 
used by Borrower to purchase or carry any such margin stock or to extend credit 
to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such margin stock. 
 
      6.11. ERISA. Borrower is in compliance in all material aspects with all 
applicable provisions of ERISA and the regulations and published interpretations 
thereunder. If Borrower has a Plan, no Reportable Event (as defined in ERISA) 
has occurred with respect to any such Plan nor are there any unfunded vested 
liabilities thereunder; Borrower has met its minimum funding requirements under 
ERISA with respect to each such Plan and has not incurred any material liability 
to the PBGC in connection with any such Plan. 
 
      6.12. Tax Returns. All tax returns required to be filed by Borrower and 
each Subsidiary which are now due in any jurisdiction have been filed; all 
taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges upon Borrower, each 
Subsidiary, or upon any of its respective properties, incomes or franchises, 
which are due and payable have been paid, or adequate reserve has been provided, 
in Borrower's financial statements, for payment thereof. 
 
      6.13. Licenses, Trademarks, etc. Each of Borrower and its Active 
Subsidiaries has all patents, licenses, trademarks, trademark rights, trade 
names, trade name rights, copyrights, permits and franchises which are required 
in order for it to conduct its business and to operate its properties as now or 
proposed to be conducted without known conflict with the rights of others. 
 
      6.14. Burdensome Agreement. Neither Borrower nor any Active Subsidiary is 
a party to any unusual or unduly burdensome agreement or undertaking, nor is it 
subject to any unusual or unduly burdensome court order, court writ, injunction 
or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality, domestic or foreign, 
which materially and adversely affects its business or property, assets, 
operations or condition, financial or otherwise. 
 
      6.15. Title and Lien. Except for Permitted Liens, the real property and 
all other property and assets of Borrower reflected in the audited consolidated 
financial statement of Borrower dated December 31, 2000, referenced in Section 
6.8, are free from all liens, charges, security interests and encumbrances of 
any nature whatsoever; and, except as aforesaid, Borrower has a good and 
marketable title in fee simple to all such real property and good and marketable 
title to all other such property and assets, except those disposed of in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
      6.16. Existing Defaults. Neither Borrower nor any Active Subsidiary is in 
default under any material term of any mortgage, indenture, deed of trust or any 
other material agreement to which it is a party or by which it or any of its 
properties may be bound. Neither Borrower nor any Active Subsidiary is in 
violation of any Law to which it or any of its properties is subject, other than 
such Laws the violation of which will not materially and adversely effect the 
business, operations or conditions, financial or otherwise, of Borrower. 
 
      6.17. Other Contracts. Neither Borrower nor any Active Subsidiary is in 
default in any material respect under the provision of any contract or 
commitment with a party which does not contemplate completion of performance by 
either party within one year, and to the best of Borrower's knowledge, there are 
no facts or conditions which, with the giving of notice or passage of time (or 
both), would result in such a default under any provision of any such contract 
or commitment which would, individually or in the aggregate, materially and 
adversely affect the business or financial position of Borrower or such Active 
Subsidiary, as applicable. 
 
      6.18. Leases. Borrower enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession under 
all the leases to which it is a party or under which it is a lessee. All such 
leases and all leases under which Borrower is lessor are legal, valid and 
binding obligations of lessor and lessee and are enforceable in accordance with 
their terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be affected by (a) 
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditor's 
rights generally, (b) the availability of certain equitable principles of 
general applicability, and (c) limitations based on statutes or on public policy 
limiting a Person's right to waive the benefits of statutory provisions or 
common law rights. No default exists under any such leases under which Borrower 
is lessee and Borrower is not in default under any such leases under which it is 
lessor. 
 



      6.19. Fire and Explosion. Neither the business nor the properties or 
operations of Borrower are affected by any fire, explosion, accident, strike, 
lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail, earthquake, embargo, act 
of God or of the public enemy or other casualty (whether or not covered by 
insurance), materially and adversely affecting such business or properties or 
operations. 
 
      6.20. No Default. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing. 
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                                    ARTICLE 7 
 
                              AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 
 
      Borrower covenants that, so long as any Obligations remain unpaid or not 
fully performed or any Commitment remains unused in whole or in part, unless the 
Required Banks shall otherwise consent in writing: 
 
      7.1. Inspection. Borrower shall maintain, and cause each Active Subsidiary 
to maintain, adequate books and accounts established and admitted in accordance 
with GAAP, and permit Banks by their representatives and agents at least on an 
annual basis to inspect any of the properties, operating procedures, corporate 
books and financial records of Borrower and each Active Subsidiary, to examine 
and make copies of the books of account and other financial records of Borrower 
and each Active Subsidiary, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of 
Borrower with, and to be advised of the same by, Borrower's officers at such 
reasonable times and intervals as Banks may designate by reasonable prior notice 
to Borrower. 
 
      7.2. Proceeds. Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans for general 
corporate purposes. 
 
      7.3. Financial Statements. Borrower will furnish to Agent and to each 
Bank: 
 
           (a) within forty-five (45) days after the close of each of the first 
three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, a copy of the consolidated balance 
sheet of Borrower and the related statements of consolidated income of Borrower 
for such fiscal quarter and for the period from the beginning of the fiscal year 
to the end of such fiscal quarter, and the consolidated cash flow statement of 
Borrower from the beginning of the fiscal year to the end of such fiscal 
quarter, all in reasonable detail, subject to year-end audit adjustments and 
certified by an Authorized Officer to be complete and correct in all material 
respects and to fairly present the consolidated financial position of Borrower 
at the dates indicated and the results of its operations and cash flow for the 
periods indicated; 
 
           (b) within ninety (90) days after the close of each fiscal year, (i) 
a copy of the annual audit report of Borrower for such fiscal year for Borrower 
including therein a consolidated balance sheet and related statements of 
consolidated income, consolidated shareholders equity, and consolidated cash 
flow, audited by Arthur Andersen, LLP or another independent certified public 
accountant acceptable to the Banks, and certified by such accountants to have 
been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, together with (ii) a 
certificate of such accounting firm, stating that in the course of the regular 
audit of the business of Borrower, which audit was conducted by such accounting 
firm in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, such accounting 
firm has obtained no knowledge of an Event of Default (insofar as it pertains to 
accounting matters), or an event which with notice or the passage of time or 
both would constitute an Event of Default (insofar as it pertains to accounting 
matters), has occurred and is continuing, or if, in the opinion of such 
accounting firm, an Event of Default (insofar as it pertains to accounting 
matters) has occurred and is continuing, a statement as to the nature thereof; 
 
           (c) contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements 
required by Sections 7.3(a) and 7.3(b), a Compliance Certificate of an 
Authorized Officer stating that such officer has individually reviewed the 
provisions of this Agreement and has individually reviewed or supervised the 
review of the activities of Borrower during such year or quarterly period, as 
the case may be, with a view to determining whether Borrower has fulfilled all 
its obligations under this Agreement, and that Borrower has observed and 
performed each undertaking contained in the Agreement and is not in Default in 
the observance or performance of any of the provisions hereof or, if Borrower 
shall be so in Default, specifying all such Defaults and events of which such 
officer may have knowledge, and otherwise containing the information and 
certifications (including calculation of the financial covenants set forth in 
Section 7.11 hereof) required in the form of Compliance Certificate shown on 
Exhibit "A"; 
 
           (d) promptly after sending or making available or filing of the same, 
copies of all reports, proxy statements and financial statements that Borrower 
sends or makes available to its stockholders and all registration statements and 
reports that Borrower files with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any 
material reports that Borrower files with any other governmental official, 
agency or authority; 
 
           (e) as soon as possible and in any event within five (5) days after 
Borrower has knowledge of (i) the occurrence of a Default or an Event of 



Default, or (ii) any default or event of default as defined in any evidence of 
Debt or under any agreement, indenture or other instrument under which such Debt 
has been issued, whether or not such Debt is accelerated or such default waived 
and which default or event of default has resulted or may result in a material 
adverse change in Borrower's condition (financial or otherwise) or operations, a 
statement of an Authorized Officer setting forth details thereof, and the action 
which Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto; 
 
           (f) as soon as available any written report pertaining to material 
items in respect to Borrower's internal control matters submitted to Borrower by 
independent accountants in connection with each annual or interim special audit 
of the financial conditions of Borrower made by Borrower's independent public 
accountants; 
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           (g) prompt written notice of any condition or event which has 
resulted or might result in (i) a material adverse change in Borrower's 
condition (financial or otherwise) or operations, or (ii) a breach of or 
noncompliance with any term, condition or covenant contained herein, or (iii) a 
material breach of or noncompliance with any term, condition or covenant of any 
material contract to which Borrower is a party or by which it or its property 
may be bound; 
 
           (h) prompt written notice of any claims, proceedings or disputes 
(whether or not purportedly on behalf of Borrower) against, or to the knowledge 
of Borrower threatened, or affecting, Borrower or any Active Subsidiary which, 
if adversely determined, would have a material adverse effect on the business, 
properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower (without in any way 
limiting the foregoing, claims, proceedings or disputes involving monetary 
amounts in excess of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) not fully covered 
by insurance shall be deemed to be material), or any material labor controversy 
resulting in or threatening to result in a strike against Borrower, or any 
proposal by any public authority to acquire any of the material assets or 
business of Borrower; 
 
           (i) promptly after receipt thereof a copy of any notice Borrower 
receives from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or the Internal Revenue 
Service with respect to any Plan; provided, however, that this Section 7.3(i) 
shall not apply to notices of general application promulgated by the Department 
of Labor, and prompt written notice if Borrower adopts or becomes liable to 
contribute to any Plan; 
 
           (j) at least fifteen (15) days prior to incurring any Real Property 
Debt, a statement by Borrower to Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to 
Agent, which (i) verifies that Borrower is in compliance with Section 8.4 of 
this Agreement; (ii) details Borrower's calculation of such compliance; and 
(iii) includes, without limitation, attachments detailing the appraisal of 
Borrower's property which is the subject of such Real Property Debt; 
 
           (k) promptly upon a Subsidiary becoming an Active Subsidiary, or upon 
the formation or acquisition by Borrower of an Active Subsidiary, written notice 
of such occurrence and cause such Active Subsidiary to execute and deliver to 
Agent a Continuing Guaranty in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "E", together 
with an opinion of legal counsel to such Subsidiary as to its legal existence, 
and the due authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of such 
Guaranty; 
 
           (l) promptly upon the request of Agent from time to time, a pro forma 
budget or projections for Borrower's consolidated operations for the remainder 
of the fiscal year in which such request is made and the ensuing full fiscal 
year; and 
 
           (m) such other financial or other information as Agent may from time 
to time reasonably request. 
 
      7.4. Corporate Existence. Borrower shall preserve and maintain its 
corporate existence and all of its rights, privileges, and franchises necessary 
or desirable in the normal course of its business, and shall cause each Active 
Subsidiary to maintain its corporate existence and all of its rights, 
privileges, and franchises necessary or desirable in the normal course of its 
business. 
 
      7.5. Compliance with Law. Borrower shall comply, and cause each Active 
Subsidiary to comply, with the requirements of all applicable Laws (including 
without limitation, ERISA with respect to each of Borrower's Plans) and all 
material agreements to which it is a party, other than such requirements or 
agreements with respect to which the non-compliance of Borrower or such Active 
Subsidiary will not materially and adversely effect the business, operations or 
conditions, financial or otherwise, of Borrower. 
 
      7.6. Insurance. Borrower shall maintain and keep in force, and cause each 
Active Subsidiary to maintain and keep in force, insurance of the types and in 
amounts customarily carried in its lines of business, including but not limited 
to fire, public liability, property damage, workmen's compensation insurance 
carried by companies and in amounts satisfactory to Banks, and deliver to Banks 
from time to time, as Banks may request, schedules setting forth all insurance 
then in effect. Borrower shall maintain and keep in full force and effect 
property damage insurance covering Eligible Equipment, or shall require lessees 
of such Eligible Equipment to do so provided that Borrower maintains secondary 
insurance on such Eligible Equipment in amounts customarily carried on such 
Eligible Equipment. 
 
      7.7. Facilities. Borrower shall keep those properties useful or necessary 



to its business in good repair and condition, and from time to time make 
necessary repairs, renewals, and replacements thereto so that its property shall 
be fully and efficiently preserved and maintained. 
 
      7.8. Taxes and Other Liabilities. Borrower shall pay and discharge when 
due any and all indebtedness, obligations, assessments, taxes real and personal, 
including federal and state income taxes, except such as it may in good faith 
contest or as to which a bona fide dispute may arise; provided provision is made 
to the satisfaction of the Required Banks for prompt payment thereof in the 
event that it is found that the same is its obligation. 
 
      7.9. Litigation. Borrower shall give immediate notice to Banks of: (a) any 
litigation or proceeding in which it is a party if any adverse decision therein 
would require Borrower to pay more than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) 
or require Borrower to 
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deliver assets the value of which exceeds such sum (whether or not the claim is 
considered to be covered by insurance); and (b) the institution of any other 
suit or proceeding involving Borrower and/or any Active Subsidiary that might 
materially and adversely affect Borrower's operations, financial condition, 
property or business. 
 
      7.10. Change of Location. Borrower shall notify Banks (30) thirty days in 
advance of any change in the location of any of its places of business or of the 
establishment of any new, or the discontinuance of any existing, place of 
business of Borrower or of any Active Subsidiary. 
 
      7.11. Financial Tests. Borrower will maintain, measured quarterly on a 
consolidated basis as of the last day of each fiscal quarter in accordance with 
GAAP: 
 
            (a) Tangible Net Worth at all times of at least the sum of (i) One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000), plus (ii) fifty percent (50%) of 
Borrower's Net Income (without reduction for any Net Loss) generated after June 
30, 2001, plus (iii) ninety percent (90%) of the cash proceeds from the issuance 
of Borrower's capital stock after June 30, 2001, excluding the first Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000) of such proceeds from the exercise of stock options after 
June 30, 2001. 
 
            (b) a ratio of Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth at all times of not 
more than 3.00 to 1.00; 
 
            (c) a ratio of EBIT to interest expense for the period of four (4) 
consecutive fiscal quarters determined as of the last day of such period of at 
least 2.00 to 1.00; and 
 
            (d) a ratio of Adjusted Net Income to Debt Service of at least 1.15 
to 1.00. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 8 
 
                               NEGATIVE COVENANTS 
 
           So long as any Obligations remain unpaid or not fully performed or 
any Commitment remains unused in whole or in part, unless the Required Banks 
shall otherwise consent to in writing, Borrower agrees that: 
 
      8.1. Mergers/Changes. Borrower shall not change its name, change the 
nature of its business, sell (whether in any one transaction or a series of 
transactions) all or substantially all of its assets, enter into any merger, 
consolidation, reorganization or recapitalization, reclassify its capital stock, 
cease to be a publicly held company, or become a subsidiary of any other 
company; provided, however, that Borrower may acquire the assets or stock of 
another entity in a consensual, negotiated transaction with such other entity, 
provided that Borrower has furnished to Agent a written statement demonstrating, 
in reasonable detail, that after giving effect to such transaction Borrower will 
remain in compliance with each of the financial tests set forth in Section 7.11 
and no other Event of Default will result therefrom. 
 
      8.2. Sale of Assets. Borrower shall not sell, transfer, lease or otherwise 
dispose of (a "Transfer") any of its assets outside the ordinary course of its 
business except for (i) Transfers of assets for fair consideration in cash or a 
cash equivalent so long as all net proceeds of such Transfer are immediately 
applied to repayment of outstanding Loans, and (ii) Transfers of worn-out, 
obsolete or surplus property (each as determined by Borrower in its reasonable 
judgment). 
 
      8.3. Liens. Borrower shall not mortgage, pledge, grant or permit to exist 
a Lien upon any of its assets of any kind, now owned or hereafter acquired, 
except for (collectively the "Permitted Liens"): 
 
           (a) existing Liens reflected on the audited consolidated financial 
statement of Borrower dated December 31, 2000 furnished to Banks pursuant to 
Section 6.8 hereof, or any Lien which replaces an existing Lien, provided the 
principal amount of the debt secured by the replacing Lien does not exceed the 
principal amount at the time of replacement of the existing Lien, or cover 
property other than the property covered by the existing Lien; 
 
           (b) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, landlords, 
materialmen, suppliers, tax, assessments, other governmental charges and other 
like Liens arising in the ordinary course of business securing obligations that 
are not incurred in connection with the obtaining of any advance or credit and 
which are not overdue or are being contested in good faith by appropriate 



proceedings, provided provision is made to the satisfaction of Agent for the 
eventual payment thereof in the event it is found that such obligation is 
payable by Borrower; 
 
           (c) Liens arising in connection with workmen's compensation, 
unemployment insurance, appeal and release bonds and progress payments under 
government contracts; 
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           (d) the giving, simultaneously with or within ninety (90) days after 
the acquisition or construction of real property or tangible personal property, 
of any purchase money Lien (including vendor's rights under purchase contracts 
under an agreement whereby title is retained for the purpose of securing the 
purchase price thereof) on real property or tangible personal property hereafter 
acquired or constructed and not heretofore owned by Borrower, or the acquiring 
hereafter of real property or personal tangible property not heretofore owned by 
Borrower subject to any then existing Lien (whether or not assumed); provided, 
however, that in each such case such Lien is limited to such acquired or 
constructed real or tangible personal property; 
 
           (e) judgment Liens in existence less than thirty (30) days after the 
entry thereof or with respect to which execution has been stayed or the payment 
of which is covered in full by insurance; and 
 
           (f) Liens arising from the Real Property Debt, provided, however, 
that Borrower is and remains in compliance with Sections 7.3(j) and 8.4 of this 
Agreement. 
 
      8.4. Indebtedness. Borrower shall not incur, create, assume, or permit to 
exist Debt (other than the Loans) which in the aggregate exceeds One Hundred 
Million Dollars ($100,000,000). 
 
      8.5. Prepayment. Borrower shall not prepay any Debt (other than Loans), or 
enter into or modify any agreement as a result of which the terms of payment of 
the Debt are waived or modified unless such prepayment or modification will have 
no material adverse affect on the condition (financial or otherwise) or 
operations of Borrower. 
 
      8.6 Transaction with Affiliates. Borrower shall not, directly or 
indirectly, enter into any transaction with or for the benefit of an Affiliate 
on terms more favorable to the Affiliate than would have been obtainable in 
arms' length dealings. 
 
      8.7. Misrepresentations. Borrower shall not furnish Agent or any Bank any 
certificate or other document that will contain any untrue statement of material 
fact or that will omit to state a material fact necessary to make it not 
misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was furnished. 
 
      8.8. Regulations. Borrower shall not directly or indirectly apply any part 
of the proceeds of the Loans to the purchasing or carrying of any "margin stock" 
within the meaning of Regulation U of the Federal Reserve Board, or any 
regulations, interpretations or rulings thereunder. 
 
      8.9. Partnerships. Borrower shall not be, or permit or cause any Active 
Subsidiary to be, a general or limited partner in any partnership or a joint 
venturer in any joint venture without the written consent of the Required Banks. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE 9 
 
                                EVENTS OF DEFAULT 
 
      9.1. Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following events 
shall constitute an Event of Default: 
 
           (a) Borrower fails to pay any installment of principal (including 
without limitation any mandatory prepayment pursuant to Section 3.4) when due, 
or any installment of interest or a Commitment Fee within five (5) calendar days 
after the date payable hereunder; 
 
           (b) Borrower fails to observe or perform any material, term, 
covenant, obligation or agreement to be observed or performed by it under this 
Agreement or any Loan Documents when required to be observed or performed and 
(i) such failure shall continue for ten (10) calendar days after notice to 
Borrower from Agent of such failure or (ii) such failure shall continue for 
fifteen (15) calendar days after Agent is notified of such failure by Borrower; 
or any Active Subsidiary revokes or terminates its Continuing Guaranty. 
 
           (c) a default shall occur as defined in any evidence of Debt by 
Borrower or any Active Subsidiary or under any indenture, agreement or other 
instrument under which the same may be issued, or any event upon any occurrence 
of which any holder or holders of the Debt outstanding thereunder may declare 
the same due and payable before its stated maturity, and which default (i) shall 
continue for a period of ten (10) calendar days after notice thereof and (ii) in 
the reasonable opinion of the Required Banks, has resulted or may result in a 
material adverse change in Borrower's condition (financial or otherwise) or 
operations, provided, however, that such default shall not be considered an 



Event of Default hereunder when the amount thereof is being contested in good 
faith by appropriate proceedings with adequate reserves therefor being set aside 
by Borrower; 
 
           (d) any certified or audited financial statement, representation, 
warranty or certificate made or furnished by Borrower to Agent or any Bank in 
connection with this Agreement, or as inducement to Banks to enter into this 
Agreement, or in any separate statement or document to be delivered hereunder to 
Banks, shall be materially false, incorrect, or incomplete when made; 
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           (e) Borrower shall suffer one or more final judgments for payment of 
money aggregating in excess of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) in any 
one (1) year period and shall not discharge the same within a period of thirty 
(30) days unless, pending further proceedings, execution has not been commenced 
or, if commenced, has been effectively stayed; 
 
           (f) Borrower or any Active Subsidiary shall: (i) have an order for 
relief entered with respect to it under the Federal Bankruptcy Code; (ii) not 
pay, or admit in writing its inability to pay, its debts generally as they 
become due; (iii) make an assignment for the benefit of creditors; (iv) apply 
for, seek, consent to, or acquiesce in, the appointment of a receiver, 
custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official for it or any 
substantial part of its property; (v) institute any proceeding seeking an order 
for relief under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or seeking to adjudicate it a 
bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking dissolution, winding up, liquidation, 
reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of it or its debts under 
any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of 
debtors or fail to file an answer or other pleading denying the material 
allegations of any such proceeding filed against it; (vi) take any corporate 
action to authorize or affect any of the foregoing actions set forth in this 
Section 9.1(f); or (vii) fail to contest in good faith any appointment or 
proceeding described in Section 9.1(g); 
 
           (g) without the application, approval or consent of Borrower or any 
Active Subsidiary, a receiver, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official 
shall be appointed for Borrower or any Active Subsidiary, or any substantial 
part of its respective property, or a proceeding described in Section 9.1(f) 
shall be instituted against Borrower or any Active Subsidiary and such 
appointment continues undischarged or such proceeding continues undismissed or 
unstayed for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days; 
 
           (h) at any time Borrower or any Active Subsidiary has a Plan and any 
Reportable Event occurs, as defined in ERISA, which creates or results in a 
liability in excess of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) for which 
Borrower or any Active Subsidiary is or may become obligated to pay, and such 
liability continues to exist for thirty (30) consecutive days; 
 
           (i) the Required Banks shall have reasonably determined in good faith 
(which determination, if made reasonably and in good faith, shall be final and 
conclusive and shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement) that one or 
more conditions exist or events have occurred which might indicate, or result 
in, a material adverse change in the operations, business, property or assets or 
in the condition (financial or otherwise) of Borrower, or in the ability of 
Borrower or any Active Subsidiary to meet in the normal course of business its 
obligations under this Agreement, the Notes or, in the case of an Active 
Subsidiary, its Guaranty, and such conditions or events continue for a period of 
ten (10) calendar days following notice. 
 
      9.2. Acceleration. If any Event of Default described in Section 9.1(f) or 
9.1(g) shall occur and be continuing, the obligations of Banks to make Loans 
hereunder shall automatically terminate and the Obligations shall immediately 
become due and payable without any election or action on the part of Agent or 
any Bank. If any other Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the 
Required Banks may (and at the direction of the Required Banks, Agent shall) 
terminate or suspend the obligations of Banks to make Loans hereunder, or 
declare the obligations to be due and payable, or both, whereupon the 
Obligations shall become immediately due and payable, without presentment, 
demand, protest or notice of dishonor of any kind, as such terms are defined in 
Division 3 of the California Commercial Code, all of which Borrower hereby 
expressly waives. Agent shall give Borrower prompt notice of any termination or 
suspension of its obligations or acceleration of Borrower's Obligations 
hereunder. After any acceleration, Banks shall have, in addition to the rights 
and remedies given to them by this Agreement and the Notes, all those allowed by 
all Applicable Laws. 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE 10 
 
                                      AGENT 
 
      10.1. Appointment; Powers. Each Bank hereby irrevocably appoints and 
authorizes Agent to act as its agent under the Loan Documents and authorizes 
Agent to take such actions on Bank's behalf and to exercise such powers under 
the Loan Documents as are specifically delegated to Agent by the terms thereof, 
together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Agent agrees to 
act as such upon the express conditions contained in this Article 10. Agent 
shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in the 
Loan Documents, may perform such duties by or through its agent or employees and 



shall not by reason of the Loan Documents have a fiduciary relationship with any 
Bank. The provisions of this Article 10 are solely for the benefit of Agent and 
Banks; and Borrower shall not have any rights as a third party beneficiary of 
any of the provisions hereof. In performing its functions and duties under this 
Agreement, Agent shall act solely as agent of Banks, and does not assume and 
shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligations towards or relationship of 
agency or trust with or for Borrower. 
 
      10.2. Agent as Bank. The agency hereby created shall in no way impair or 
affect any of the rights and powers of, or impose any duties or obligations upon 
Agent in its individual capacity. With respect to its Commitments and the Loans 
made by it, Agent shall have the same rights and powers under the Loan Documents 
as any Bank and may exercise the same as though it were not Agent, and the term 
"Bank" or "Banks" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, include Agent 
in its capacity as a Bank hereunder. Agent and any Bank and their respective 
Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to (including loans which may be 
repaid by Loans 
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under this Agreement), and generally engage in any kind of business with 
Borrower or any of its Affiliates as if it were not Agent or a Bank and without 
any duty to account therefor to the other parties to this Agreement. 
 
      10.3. Independent Credit Analysis. Each Bank represents and warrants that 
(a) it has, independently and without reliance upon Agent, any other Bank, or 
the directors, officers, agents, or employees of Agent or of any other Bank, and 
instead in reliance upon information supplied to it by or on behalf of Borrower, 
and upon such other information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own 
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of Borrower and 
its own independent credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement, 
and (b) it shall independently and without reliance upon Agent, any other Bank, 
or the directors, officers, agents or employees of Agent, or of any other Bank, 
continue to make its own independent credit analyses and decisions in acting or 
not acting under the Loan Documents. Agent shall not have any duty or 
responsibility to make any such investigation or appraisal on behalf of Banks or 
provide any Bank with any credit or other information concerning the affairs, 
financial condition or business of Borrower which may at any time come into the 
possession of Agent or any of its Affiliates, unless such information shall have 
been delivered to Agent in writing (i) with directions to deliver the same to 
Banks or (ii) in satisfaction of a specific requirement of this Agreement. 
 
      10.4. General Immunity. Neither Agent nor any of its directors, officers, 
agents or employees shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken 
by it or them under any of the Loan Documents or in connection therewith, unless 
caused by its or their gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, Agent: 
 
           (a) shall not be responsible to any Bank for any recitals, 
statements, warranties or representations in the Loan Documents or in any 
written or oral statement or in any financial or other statements, agreements, 
instruments, reports, certificates or other documents relative thereto or for 
the financial condition of Borrower; 
 
           (b) shall not be responsible for the authenticity, accuracy, 
completeness, value, validity, effectiveness, due execution, legality, 
genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of the Loan Documents or any other 
agreements or any assignments, certificates, requests, financial statements, 
notice schedules or any opinions of counsel executed and delivered pursuant 
thereto; 
 
           (c) shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance 
or observance of any of the terms, provisions, agreements, covenants or 
conditions contained in the Loan Documents on the part of Borrower, or any of 
the terms of any such agreement by any party thereto or as to the use of the 
proceeds of the Loans and shall have no duty to inspect the property (including 
the books and records) of Borrower; 
 
           (d) shall incur no liability under or in respect of the Loan 
Documents or any other document by acting upon any notice, consent, certificate 
or other instrument or writing believed by Agent in good faith to be genuine and 
signed or sent by the proper party; 
 
           (e) may consult with legal counsel (including counsel for Borrower), 
independent public accountants and other experts selected by Agent and shall not 
be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in 
accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts; and 
 
           (f) subject to the provisions of Section 10.6(c), (i) Agent may act 
or refrain from acting under the Loan Documents in accordance with the 
instructions of the Required Banks or Banks, where appropriate in accordance 
with the terms of the Loan Documents, (ii) Agent shall be entitled to refrain 
from exercising any power, discretion or authority vested in it under any Loan 
Document unless and until it has obtained the instructions of Required Banks, 
where appropriate in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents, or Banks, 
and (iii) no Bank shall have any right of action against Agent for acting or 
refraining from acting in accordance with this Section 10.4(f). 
 
      10.5. Right to Indemnity. Agent shall be fully justified in failing or 
refusing to take any action under the Loan Documents unless it shall first be 
indemnified (upon requesting such indemnification) to its satisfaction by Banks 
(in accordance with each Bank's Pro Rata Share, determined in each case as of 
the date on which the event giving rise to the claim for indemnification arose) 
against any and all liability and expense which it may incur by reason of taking 
or continuing to take any such action. Each Bank severally agrees to indemnify 
Agent (to the extent not reimbursed under Section 11.5), in the amount of its 
Pro Rata Share (determined as aforesaid) for any and all liabilities, 
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions judgments, suits, costs, 



expenses or disbursements of any kind and nature whatsoever which may be imposed 
on, incurred by or asserted against Agent in any way relating to or arising out 
of the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, or the 
enforcement of any of the terms thereof or of any other documents, provided no 
such liability, obligation, loss, damage, penalty, action, judgment, suit, 
claim, cost, expense or disbursement results from Agent's gross negligence or 
willful misconduct. Each Bank agrees to reimburse Agent in the amount of its Pro 
Rata Share of any out-of-pocket expenses and costs, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, incurred for the benefit of Banks and not 
reimbursed by Borrower pursuant to Section 11.5 of this Agreement. Nothing 
contained herein shall release Borrower from any obligations to make payments to 
Agent pursuant to Section 3.8. 
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      10.6. Action by Agent 
 
           (a) Actual Knowledge. Agent may assume that no Default or Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing, unless Agent has actual knowledge of the 
Default or Event of Default, has received notice from Borrower, its counsel or 
its independent certified public accountants stating the nature of the Default 
or Event of Default, or has received notice from a Bank stating the nature of 
the Default or Event of Default and that Bank considers the Default or Event of 
Default to have occurred and be continuing. 
 
           (b) Agent; Obligations. Agent has only those obligations under the 
Loan Documents that are expressly set forth therein. Without limitation on the 
foregoing, Agent shall have no duty to inspect any property of Borrower, 
although Agent may in its discretion periodically inspect the property from time 
to time. 
 
           (c) Discretion to Act. Except for any obligation expressly set forth 
in the Loan Documents and as long as Agent may assume that Default or Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing, Agent may, but shall not be required to, 
exercise its discretion to act or not act, except that Agent shall be required 
to act or not act upon the instructions of the Required Banks (or of all Banks 
in any circumstances governed by the provisions of Section 11.1 of this 
Agreement) and those instructions shall be binding upon Agent, all Banks, and 
all holders of the Notes; provided, that Agent shall not be required to act or 
not act if to do so would be contrary to any Loan Document or to Applicable Law. 
 
           (d) Action Upon Instructions. If Agent has knowledge (as provided in 
Section 10.6(a)) that a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing, Agent shall give notice thereof to Banks and shall act or refrain 
from acting upon the instructions of the Required Banks, where appropriate in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement, or Banks; or provided that Agent 
shall not be required to act or not act if to do so would be contrary to any 
Loan Document or to Applicable Law. If the Required Banks or Banks, as the case 
may be, entitled to instruct Agent fail, for fifteen (15) Business Days after 
the giving of notice by Agent, to instruct Agent, then Agent in its discretion 
may act or not act as it deems advisable for the protection of the interests of 
Banks. 
 
      10.7. Payee of Note Treated as Owner. Agent may deem and treat the payee 
of any Note as the owner thereof for all purposes hereof unless and until a 
written notice of the assignment or transfer thereof shall have been filed with 
Agent. Any request, authority or consent of any Person who, at the time of 
making such request or giving such authority or consent, is the payee of any 
Note or the holder of any Note (if Agent has received written notice of the 
assignment or transfer thereof) shall be conclusive and binding on any 
subsequent holder, transferee or assignee of that Note or of any Note or Notes 
issued in exchange therefor. 
 
      10.8. Agent's Resignation. Agent may resign at any time by giving at least 
ninety (90) days' prior written notice of its intention to do so to each Bank 
and to Borrower. Such resignation shall become effective upon the appointment by 
Borrower, with the consent of the Required Banks, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, of a successor Agent which is a Bank; provided that upon 
the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, the Required Banks shall 
appoint such successor without the consent of Borrower. Upon the acceptance of 
any appointment as an Agent hereunder by a successor Agent, that successor Agent 
shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, 
privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be 
discharged from its duties and obligations under this Agreement. After any 
resigning Agent's resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Article 
10 shall continue to inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to 
be taken by it while it was Agent hereunder. Upon such appointment, the term 
"Agent" shall for all purposes of this Agreement thereafter mean such successor. 
 
      10.9 IRS Withholding Representation. Each Bank represents and warrants 
that it is entitled to receive any payments hereunder without the withholding of 
any tax and will furnish to Agent such forms, certifications, statements and 
other documents as Agent may request from time to time to evidence such Bank's 
exemption from the withholding of any tax imposed by any jurisdiction or to 
enable Agent to comply with any applicable laws or regulations relating thereto. 
 
           Without limiting the effect of the foregoing, if any Bank is not 
created or organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof, 
such Bank further represents and warrants that it is engaged in the conduct of a 
business within the United States and that the payments made hereunder are or 
are reasonably expected to be effectively connected with the conduct of that 
trade or business and are or will be includible in its gross income or, if Bank 
is not engaged in a U.S. trade or business with which such payments are 



effectively connected, that such Bank is entitled to the benefits of a tax 
convention which exempts the income from U.S. withholding tax and that it has 
satisfied all requirements to qualify for the exemption from tax. 
 
           Each Bank agrees that it will, immediately upon the request of Agent, 
furnish to Agent Form 4224 or Form 1001 of the Internal Revenue Service, or such 
other forms, certifications, statements or documents, duly executed and 
completed by such Bank as evidence of its exemption from the withholding of U.S. 
tax with respect thereto. If any Bank determines that, as a result of any change 
in applicable law, regulation, or treaty or in any official application or 
interpretation thereof, it ceases to qualify for exemption from any tax imposed 
by any jurisdiction with respect to payments made hereunder, such Bank shall 
promptly notify Agent of such fact and Agent may, but shall not be required to 
withhold the amount of any such applicable tax from amounts paid to such Bank 
hereunder. Agent shall not be obligated to make any payments hereunder to such 
Bank in respect of its Loans until such Bank shall have furnished 
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to Agent the requested form, certification, statement or document and may 
withhold the amount of such applicable tax from amounts paid to Bank hereunder. 
 
           Each Bank shall reimburse, indemnify and hold Agent harmless for any 
and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature 
whatsoever which may be imposed upon, incurred by or asserted against Agent due 
to its reliance upon the representation hereby made that such Bank is exempt 
from withholding of tax. Unless Agent receives written notice to the contrary, 
each Bank shall be deemed to have made the representations contained in this 
Section and in each subsequent tax year of such Bank. 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE 11 
 
                                  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
      11.1. Amendments. Subject to the provisions of this Article 11 and except 
as otherwise provided in any Loan Document, the Required Banks (or the Agent 
with the consent in writing of the Required Banks) and the Borrower, may enter 
into agreements supplemental hereto or thereto for the purpose of adding to or 
modifying any provisions of the Loan Documents or changing in any manner the 
rights of the Banks or of the Borrower, as the case may be, hereunder or 
thereunder or waiving any Default or Event of Default hereunder or thereunder; 
provided, however, that no such supplemental agreement shall, without the 
written consent of all the Banks: 
 
           (a) Extend the maturity of any Loan or Note, reduce the principal 
amount thereof, reduce the rate, or extend the time of payment of interest or 
fees thereon. 
 
           (b) Change the percentage specified in the definition of Required 
Banks. 
 
           (c) Extend the Termination Date, or reduce the amount or extend the 
payment date for, the mandatory payments, or increase the Pro Rata Share of any 
Bank or amount of the Commitment of any Bank hereunder, or permit the Borrower 
to assign its rights under this Agreement. 
 
           (d) Amend this Section 11.1. 
 
           (e) Modify the definition of either Borrowing Base or Adjusted 
Borrowing Base, or modify or delete the reference to the Adjusted Borrowing Base 
in the definition of Commitment. 
 
No amendment of any provision of this Agreement relating to the Agent shall be 
effective without the written consent of the Agent. The Agent may amend or waive 
payment of the fee required under Section 3.8 without obtaining the consent of 
any of the Banks. 
 
      11.2. Preservation of Rights. No delay or omission of the Agent or any 
Bank to exercise any right under the Loan Documents shall impair such right or 
be construed to be a waiver of any Default or Event of Default or an 
acquiescence therein, and the making of a Loan notwithstanding the existence of 
a Default or Event of default or the inability of the Borrower to satisfy the 
conditions precedent to such Loan shall not constitute any waiver or 
acquiescence. Any single or partial exercise of any such right shall not 
preclude other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, 
and no waiver, amendment or other variation of the terms, conditions or 
provisions of the Loan Documents whatsoever shall be valid unless in writing 
signed by the Banks required pursuant to Section 11.1, and then only to the 
extent in such writing specifically set forth. All remedies contained in the 
Loan Documents or by law afforded shall be cumulative and all shall be available 
to the Banks until the Obligations have been paid in full. 
 
      11.3. Setoff. In addition to, and without limitation of, any rights of the 
Banks under applicable Law, if the Borrower becomes insolvent, however 
evidenced, or any Default or Event of Default occurs, any indebtedness from any 
Bank to the Borrower (including all account balances, whether provisional or 
final and whether or not collected or available) may be offset and applied 
toward the payment of the Obligations owing to such Bank, whether or not the 
Obligations, or any part hereof, shall then be due. 
 
      11.4. Ratable Payments. If any Bank, whether by setoff or otherwise, has 
payment made to it upon its Loans in a greater proportion than that received by 
any other Bank, such Bank agrees, promptly upon demand, to purchase a portion of 
the Loans held by the other Banks so that after such purchase each Bank will 
hold its ratable proportion of Loans. 



 
      11.5. Expenses. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall 
be consummated, Borrower agrees to promptly pay (a) all the actual and 
reasonable costs and expenses of preparation of this Agreement, the Notes and 
the other Loan Documents, and of all the costs of furnishing all opinions by 
counsel for Borrower (including without limitation any opinions requested by 
Agent as to any legal matters arising hereunder or thereunder), and of 
Borrower's performance of and compliance with all agreements and conditions 
contained herein on its part to be performed or complied with; (b) the 
reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Agent (including 
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fees, expenses and disbursements of counsel to Agent) in connection with the 
administration of this Agreement, the Notes, the other Loan Documents, and the 
Loans hereunder, and any amendments and waivers hereto; and (c) after the 
occurrence of an Event of Default, all costs and expenses (including reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs of settlement) incurred by Banks in enforcing any 
Obligations of or in collecting any payments due from Borrower hereunder or 
under the Notes by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with any 
refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this 
Agreement in the nature of a "work-out" or of any insolvency or bankruptcy 
proceeding. 
 
      11.6. Indemnity. In addition to the payment of expenses pursuant to 
Section 11.5, whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be 
consummated, Borrower agrees to indemnify, pay and hold Banks and any holder of 
any Note, and the officers, directors, employees and agents of Banks and such 
holders (individually called an "Indemnitee" and collectively called the 
"Indemnitees") harmless from and against, any and all other liabilities, 
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, claims, 
costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, 
without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for such 
Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial 
proceeding, whether or not such Indemnitee shall be designated a party thereto), 
which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against such Indemnitee, in 
any manner relating to or arising out of the use or intended use of the proceeds 
of the Loans hereunder (the "indemnified liabilities"); provided that Borrower 
shall have no obligation to an Indemnitee hereunder with respect to indemnified 
liabilities arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of that 
Indemnitee. To the extent that the undertaking to indemnify, pay and hold 
harmless set forth in the preceding sentence may be unenforceable because it is 
violative of any law or public policy, Borrower shall contribute the maximum 
portion which it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law, to the 
payment and satisfaction of all indemnified liabilities incurred by the 
Indemnitees or any of them. 
 
      11.7. Survival of Representations. All representations and warranties of 
the Borrower contained in this Agreement shall survive delivery of the Notes and 
the making of the Loans herein contemplated. 
 
      11.8. Governmental Regulation. Anything contained in this Agreement to the 
contrary notwithstanding, no Bank shall be obligated to extend credit to the 
Borrower in violation of any limitation or prohibition provided by any 
applicable Law. 
 
      11.9. Taxes. Any taxes (excluding income taxes) payable or ruled payable 
by Federal or State authority in respect of the Loan Documents shall be paid by 
the Borrower, together with interest and penalties, if any. 
 
      11.10. Headings. Section headings in the Loan Documents are for 
convenience of reference only, and shall not govern the interpretation of any of 
the provisions of the Loan Documents. 
 
      11.11. Several Obligations. The respective obligations of the Banks 
hereunder are several and not joint and no Bank shall be the partner or agent of 
any other (except to the extent to which the Agent is authorized to act as 
such). The failure of any Bank to perform any of its obligations hereunder shall 
not relieve any other Bank from any of its obligations hereunder. This Agreement 
shall not be construed so as to confer any right or benefit upon any Person 
other than the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors and 
assigns. 
 
      11.12. Numbers of Documents. All statements, notices, closing documents, 
and requests hereunder shall be furnished to the Agent with sufficient 
counterparts so that the Agent may furnish one to each of the Banks. 
 
      11.13 Severability of Provisions. Any provision in any Loan Document that 
is held to be inoperative, unenforceable or invalid in any jurisdiction shall, 
as to that jurisdiction, be inoperative, unenforceable or invalid without 
affecting the remaining provisions in that jurisdiction or the operation, 
enforceability or validity of that provision in any other jurisdiction, and to 
this end the provisions of all Loan Documents are declared to be severable. 
 
      11.14. Non-Liability of Banks. The relationship between the Borrower and 
the Banks and the Agent shall be solely that of borrower and lender. Neither the 
Agent nor any Bank shall have any fiduciary responsibilities to the Borrower. 
Neither the Agent nor any Bank undertakes any responsibility to the Borrower to 
review or inform the Borrower of any matter in connection with any phase of the 
Borrower's business or operations. 
 



      11.15. Choice of Law. The Loan Documents (other than those containing a 
contrary express choice of law provisions) shall be construed in accordance with 
the internal laws (and not the law of conflicts) of the State of California, but 
giving effect to federal laws applicable to national banks. 
 
      11.16. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO 
THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR CALIFORNIA STATE 
COURT SITTING IN SAN FRANCISCO IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR 
RELATING TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AGREES THAT 
ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED 
IN ANY SUCH COURT AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY 
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OBJECTION IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE AS TO THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION 
OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN SUCH COURT OR THAT SUCH COURT IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. 
NOTHING HEREIN SHALL LIMIT THE RIGHT OF THE AGENT OR ANY BANK TO BRING 
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE BORROWER IN THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. 
 
      11.17. Compliance with Applicable Laws. It is not the intent of the 
Borrower, the Agent or the Banks to make an agreement in violation of Applicable 
Law. Regardless of any provision contained herein, no Bank shall be entitled to 
receive, collect or apply, as interest on the Loans, any amount in excess of the 
Maximum Amount. If any Bank ever receives, collects or applies, as interest, any 
such excess, such amount which would be excessive interest shall be deemed a 
partial repayment of principal and treated hereunder as such; and if principal 
is paid in full, any remaining excess shall be paid to the Borrower. In 
determining whether or not the interest paid or payable, under any specific 
contingency, exceeds the Maximum Amount, the Borrower and each Bank shall, to 
the maximum extent permitted under Applicable Law, (a) characterize any 
nonprincipal payment as an expense, fee or premium rather than as interest, (b) 
exclude voluntary prepayments and the effect thereof, and (c) amortize, prorate, 
allocate and spread in equal parts, the total amount of interest throughout the 
entire contemplated term of the Obligations so that the interest rate is uniform 
throughout the entire term of the Obligations; provided, however, that if the 
Loans are paid and performed in full prior to the end of the full contemplated 
term of the Obligations, and if the interest received for the actual period of 
existence thereof exceeds the Maximum Amount, each Bank shall refund to the 
Borrower the amount of such excess or credit the amount of such excess against 
the total principal amount of the Loans owing, and, in such event, each Bank 
shall not be subject to any penalties provided by Applicable Law for contracting 
for, charging or receiving interest in excess of the Maximum Amount. This 
Section 11.17 shall control every other provision of all agreements pertaining 
to the transactions contemplated by or contained in the Transaction Documents. 
 
      11.18. Confidentiality. Agent and each Bank agrees to hold any information 
which it may receive from Borrower pursuant to this Agreement in confidence, and 
further agrees not to disclose any such information to any Person or to use any 
such information for any purpose other than in connection with this Agreement. 
The restrictions of this Section 11.18 shall not apply to any information which 
has been disseminated to the public. 
 
           (a) Agent and each Bank agrees that, at any time that it has in its 
possession any of Borrower's confidential information and for not less than 
seventy-two (72) hours after such information is made available to the public, 
it will not buy or sell, or place orders to buy or sell, directly or indirectly, 
any securities of Borrower. 
 
           (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Agent and Banks may disclose such 
Borrower's confidential information to other Banks or to other Bank's employees, 
attorneys, accountants, or other professional advisors as is necessary for Agent 
or such Banks to perform its obligations or protect its interests under this 
Agreement. Agent and each Bank shall take such steps to protect Borrower's 
confidential information as it does to protect its own confidential information. 
 
           (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Agent and Banks may disclose such 
of Borrower's confidential information as each of them may be required to do so 
(i) to regulatory officials, (ii) pursuant to law, regulation or legal process, 
or (iii) in connection with any legal proceeding to which Agent or a Bank may be 
a party; provided that Agent or such Bank shall have first given Borrower such 
written notice of its intention to so disclose Borrower's confidential 
information promptly after it receives notice that it is required to disclose 
such information. 
 
      11.19. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and 
shall inure to the benefit of Agent, Banks and Borrower and their respective 
successors and assigns; provided, however, that Borrower may not assign or 
transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of the Banks. 
 
      11.20. Assignments; Participations. 
 
             (a) Subject to the provisions of subsection 11.20(h), each Bank may 
assign to one or more Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation, all or any 
portion of its Pro Rata Share of the Commitments, the Loans owing to it and the 
Note held by it); provided, however, that (i) any such assignment (other than 
any assignment to an existing Bank) shall be in a minimum aggregate amount of 
$5,000,000 (or, if less, the remaining amount of the Commitment being assigned 
by such Bank) of the Commitments or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess 
thereof, (ii) each such assignment shall be of a uniform, and not a varying, 
percentage of all rights and obligations under and in respect of the Revolving 



Loan facility, (iii) each such assignment shall be to an Eligible Assignee and 
(iv) the parties to each such assignment shall execute and deliver to Agent, for 
its acceptance and recording in the Register, an assignment and acceptance in 
form customary and reasonably satisfactory to Agent (an "Assignment and 
Acceptance"), together with any Note or Notes subject to such assignment and a 
processing and recordation fee of $3,500. Upon such execution, delivery, 
acceptance and recording, from and after the effective date specified in such 
Assignment and Acceptance, (x) the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto 
and, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned to 
it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations 
of a Bank hereunder and (y) the Bank assignor thereunder shall, to the extent 
that rights and obligations hereunder have been assigned by it pursuant to such 
Assignment and Acceptance, relinquish its rights and be released from its 
obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an 
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Assignment and Acceptance covering all or the remaining portion of an assigning 
Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Bank shall cease to be 
a party hereto). 
 
             (b) By executing and delivering an Assignment and Acceptance, the 
Bank assignor thereunder and the assignee thereunder confirm to and agree with 
each other and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than as provided 
in such Assignment and Acceptance, such assigning Bank makes no representation 
or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, 
warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement or 
the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or 
value of this Agreement or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant 
hereto; (ii) such assigning Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes 
no responsibility with respect to the financial condition of Borrower or any 
guarantor or the performance or observance by the Borrower or any guarantor of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement or any other instrument or document 
furnished pursuant hereto; (iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a 
copy of this Agreement, together with copies of such other documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and 
decision to enter into such Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) such assignee will, 
independently and without reliance upon Agent, such assigning Bank or any other 
Bank and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at 
the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking 
action under this Agreement; (v) such assignee confirms that it is an Eligible 
Assignee; (vi) such assignee appoints and authorizes Agent to take such action 
as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers and discretion under this 
Agreement as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof, together with such 
powers and discretion as are reasonably incidental thereto; and (vii) such 
assignee agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the 
obligations that by the terms of this Agreement are required to be performed by 
it as a Bank. 
 
             (c) Agent shall maintain a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance 
delivered to and accepted by it and a register for the recordation of the names 
and addresses of the Banks and each Bank's share of the Commitment, and 
principal amount of the Loans owing to each such Bank from time to time (the 
"Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive and binding for all 
purposes, absent manifest error, and Borrower, Agent and the Banks may treat 
each Person whose name is recorded in the Register as a Bank hereunder for all 
purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by 
Borrower or any Bank at any reasonable time and from time to time upon 
reasonable prior notice. 
 
             (d) Upon its receipt of an Assignment and Acceptance executed by an 
assigning Bank and an assignee, together with any Note or Notes subject to such 
assignment, Agent shall (i) accept such Assignment and Acceptance, (ii) record 
the information contained therein in the Register and (iii) give prompt notice 
thereof to Borrower. Within five Business Days after its receipt of such notice, 
Borrower, at its own expense, shall, on request, execute and deliver to Agent in 
exchange for any surrendered Note or Notes a new Note to the order of such 
Eligible Assignee in an amount equal to the portion of the Commitment assumed by 
it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance and, if the assigning Bank has 
retained a portion of the Commitment hereunder, a new Note to the order of the 
assigning Bank in an amount equal to the portion of the Commitment retained by 
it hereunder. Such new Note or Notes shall be in an aggregate principal amount 
equal to the aggregate principal amount of such surrendered Note or Notes, shall 
be dated the effective date of such Assignment and Acceptance and shall 
otherwise be in substantially the form of Exhibit "D" hereto. 
 
             (e) Each Bank may sell participations in or to all or a portion of 
its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation, 
all or a portion of its Pro Rata Share of the Commitment, the Loans owing to it 
and the Note or Notes, if any, held by it); provided, however, that (i) such 
Bank's obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation, its Pro 
Rata Share of the Commitment) shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Bank shall 
remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of 
such obligations, (iii) such Bank shall remain the holder of any such Note for 
all purposes of this Agreement, (iv) Borrower, Agent and the other Banks shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such 
Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement and (v) no participant under 
any such participation shall have any right to approve any amendment or waiver 
of any provision of any Loan Document, or any consent to any departure by any 
party therefrom, except and solely to the extent that such amendment, waiver or 
consent would reduce the principal of, or interest on, the Loans or any fees or 
other amounts payable hereunder, in each case to the extent subject to such 
participation, postpone any date fixed for any payment of principal of, or 
interest on, the Loans or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder, in each 
case to the extent subject to such participation. 



 
             (f) Any Bank may, in connection with any assignment or 
participation or proposed assignment or participation pursuant to this Section 
11.20, disclose to the assignee or participant or proposed assignee or 
participant any information relating to Borrower furnished to such Bank by or on 
behalf of Borrower; provided, that such assignee or participant or proposed 
assignee or participant agrees to maintain the confidentiality of any 
confidential information delivered pursuant hereto. 
 
             (g) Notwithstanding any other provision set forth in this 
Agreement, any Bank may at any time create a security interest in all or any 
portion of its rights under this Agreement (including, without limitation, the 
Loans owing to it and the Note or Notes, if any, held by it) in favor of any 
Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System. 
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             (h) If any Bank (an "Assigning Bank") desires to make an assignment 
under subsection 11.20(a) to proposed Eligible Assignee who is not then an 
existing Bank or Affiliate of an existing Bank, the Assigning Bank shall first 
give written notice of such intention to Agent and to Borrower, including a 
statement of the dollar amount of Commitment proposed to be assigned by such 
Assigning Bank and, if known by the Assigning Bank, the name of each Person to 
whom the Assigning Bank proposes to make an assignment (an "Assignment Notice"). 
Within seven (7( Business Days after receipt by Borrower of an Assignment 
Notice, Borrower may deliver to the Assigning Bank a written response (a 
"Response") indicating (i) Borrower's objection, if any, to any proposed 
assignee identified in the Assignment Notice and the basis for such objection, 
and (ii) one or more Persons whom Borrower has selected and proposes as an 
Eligible Assignee in lieu of the Person(s) identified by the Assigning bank. 
Borrower and the Assigning Bank agree to cooperate with each other in 
effectuatuing an assignment to the Person(s) selected by Borrower, assuming such 
Person otherwise satisfies the provisions of this Section 11.20. 
 
      11.21. Notices. 
 
             (a) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement: 
 
             (i) All notices, requests, demands, directions and other 
      communications provided for hereunder or under any other Loan Document 
      must be in writing and must be mailed, telecopied, or delivered to the 
      appropriate party at the address set forth on the signature pages of this 
      Agreement or, as to any party to any Loan Document, at any other address 
      as may be designated by it in a written notice sent to all other parties 
      to such Loan Document in accordance with this Section 11.20; and 
 
             (ii) Any notice, request, demand, direction or other communication 
      given by telecopier must be confirmed within 48 hours by letter mailed or 
      delivered to the appropriate party at its respective address. 
 
             (b) Except as otherwise expressly provided in any Loan Document, if 
any notice, request, demand, direction or other communication required or 
permitted by any Loan Document is given by mail it will be effective on the 
earlier of receipt or the third calendar day after deposit in the United States 
mail with first class or airmail postage prepaid; if given by telecopier, when 
sent; or if given by personal delivery, when delivered. 
 
      11.22. Entire Agreement. The Loan Documents represent the final and entire 
agreement between the parties hereto and supersede all prior and contemporaneous 
agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 
      11.23. Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO 
TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER ANY 
LOAN DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE 
DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENT, 
OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR 
HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND 
EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND ACTION OR 
CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY 
PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS 
SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE SIGNATORIES 
HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. 
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      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower, Agent, and Banks have caused this Agreement 
to be duly executed on the day and year first written at the head of this 
Agreement. 
 
           BORROWER: 
 
           McGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
           By: 
                  --------------------------------------------------- 
                  Thomas J. Sauer 
           Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
 
           Notice Address: 
 
                  5700 Las Positas Road 
                  Livermore, California 94550 
                  Attention:  Mr. Thomas Sauer, Chief Financial Officer 
                  Fax:   925-453-3200 
 
 
           BANKS: 
 
           UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A., 
           individually and as Agent 
 
           By: 
                  --------------------------------------------------- 
                  Peter  Sitov 
           Title: Vice President 
 
 
 
           Notice Address: 
           -------------- 
                                                        
                                                                 Pro Rata Share of 
                 East Bay Commercial Banking Group            Commitment: $34,000,000 
                 Two Walnut Creek Center                  Pro Rata Share:  28.333333332% 
                 200 Pringle Avenue, Suite 260 
                 Walnut Creek, CA  94596-3570 
                 Attention:  Mr. Peter Sitov 
                 Fax No.:  (925) 947-2424 
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           FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK 
 
           By: 
                   ------------------------------ 
                   Dawn P. Weiss 
           Title:  Vice President 
 
 
 
           Notice Address: 
           -------------- 
                                                        
                                                                 Pro Rata Share of 
                 Business and Consumer Services              Commitment: $26,000,000 
                 One First Union Center                   Pro Rata Share:  21.666666667% 
                 301 South College Street, DC-5 
                 Charlotte, NC 28288-0760 
                 Attention:  Dawn P. Weiss, Director, Underwriting 
                 Fax No.:  (704) 383-7611 
 
 
 
           BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 
 
           By: 
                   ----------------------------- 
                   Lisa M. Thomas 
           Title:  Senior Vice President 
 
 
 
           Notice Address: 
           -------------- 
                                                        
                 Bay Area Commercial Banking Group              Pro Rata Share of 
                 345 Montgomery Street, Concourse Level      Commitment: $20,000,000 
                 San Francisco, CA  94104                 Pro Rata Share:  16.666666667% 
                 Attention:  Lisa M. Thomas, Sr. V.P. 
                 Fax No.:  (415) 622-1878 
 
 
 
           COMERICA BANK - CALIFORNIA. 
 
           By: __________________________________ 
           Name:  _______________________________ 
           Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
 
           Notice Address: 
           -------------- 
                                                        
                                                                 Pro Rata Share of 
                 1331 N. California Boulevard, Suite 400     Commitment: $20,000,000 
                 Walnut Creek, CA  94596                  Pro Rata Share:  16.666666667% 
                 Attention:  R. Michael Law, V.P. 
                 Fax No.:  (925) 941-1970 
 
 
 
           WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
 
           By: __________________________________ 
           Name:  _______________________________ 
           Title: _______________________________ 
 
 
 
           Notice Address: 
           -------------- 
                                                        
                                                                Pro Rata Share of 
                 1200 Concord Avenue                         Commitment: $20,000,000 
                 Concord, CA 94520                        Pro Rata Share:  16.666666667% 
                 Attention: Robert Neubauer, V.P. 



                 Fax No.: (925) 682-7347 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.2 
 
 
 
 
June 26, 2001 
 
 
Mr. Thomas J. Sauer 
Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
McGrath RentCorp 
5700 Las Positas Road 
Livermore, CA 94550 
 
Re:     $5,000,000.00 Committed Credit Facility 
 
Dear Mr. Sauer: 
 
Union Bank of California, N.A. ("Bank") is pleased to offer McGrath RentCorp, a 
California corporation ("Borrower") a committed credit facility ("Facility") 
under which the Bank will make advances to the Borrower from time to time up to 
and including June 30, 2004, not to exceed at any time the maximum principal 
amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000), to be governed by the terms of the 
enclosed Credit Line Note ("Credit Line Note") in favor of Bank, and subject to 
the conditions and agreements set forth below. 
 
1. This Facility is made available only in connection with Borrower's use of the 
Bank's sweep service for management of its checking account balances ("Sweep 
Service"). Therefore, this Facility shall commence on the date ("Effective 
Date") Borrower becomes a Sweep Service customer and this Facility shall 
terminate, if not earlier terminated, on the date Borrower ceases to continue as 
a Sweep Service customer. Upon such termination Bank shall have no further 
obligation to fund advances under this Facility, and all amounts owing under the 
Credit Line Note shall become immediately due and payable. 
 
2. As provided in the Credit Line Note, the occurrence of an Event of Default 
under the Multibank Agreement shall be a default under this Facility. The term 
"Multibank Agreement" as used herein means that certain Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 2001, by and among Borrower, Bank, First 
Union National Bank, Bank of America, National Trust & Savings Association, 
Comerica Bank - California, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and shall include any 
amendments thereto as are consented to by Bank as set forth herein. Each 
capitalized term not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth 
in the Multibank Agreement. 
 
3. Borrower shall comply with, and repeats as if fully set forth herein as of 
the date hereof, all of the representations, covenants and obligations of 
Borrower set forth under Articles 6, 7, 8 and 11 (and including any definitions 
and related provisions) of the Multibank Agreement. In the event the Multibank 
Agreement terminates or expires prior to the termination or expiration of this 
Facility, the foregoing representations, covenants and obligations of Borrower 
shall nevertheless survive as between Borrower and Bank with respect to this 
Facility and shall continue in effect until this Facility terminates or expires. 
No amendment or waiver of any provision of the Multibank Agreement after the 
date hereof shall be effective with respect to this Facility unless the Bank 
consents thereto in writing. 
 
4. Borrower acknowledges that any amount outstanding under the Credit Line Note 
is included within the definition of "Debt" and "Outside Debt" under the 
Agreement. 
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5. Borrower shall pay to Bank a non-refundable commitment fee for this Facility 
for the period of time during which this Facility is available. Such fee shall 
be payable in arrears in quarterly installments on the last day of each March, 
June, September, and December, and on the last day this Facility is available, 
to be computed at the rate per annum equal to 0.125% on the average unused 
amount of the Facility during such period. 
 
6. This Facility letter will be governed by the laws of the State of California. 
 
Enclosed is the original Credit Line Note and a copy of the this Facility letter 
together with an Authorization to Pay Proceeds of Note and Loan Disbursement 
Instructions, and any other contract, instrument or document Bank requires to be 
executed and delivered in connection with this Facility (each a "Loan 
Document"). The Borrower's executing the Loan Documents and returning them to 
Bank together with an appropriate corporate resolution and incumbency 
certificate acceptable to Bank constitutes its agreement to the terms and 
conditions of this Facility. 
 
BORROWER AND BANK HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, 
ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER THIS FACILITY LETTER, THE CREDIT LINE 
NOTE OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR 
INCIDENTAL HERETO OR THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER 
ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND ANY SUCH 
CLAIM, DEMAND ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT 
A JURY. BORROWER OR BANK MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS 
PARAGRAPH WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THIS CONSENT OF BORROWER AND 
BANK TO WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. 
 
This offer expires on June 28, 2001 unless the executed Loan Documents and the 
corporate resolution and incumbency certificate are returned to the Bank by 
then. If the Effective Date has not occurred by June 28, 2001 this Facility 
letter and the Credit Line Note shall terminate and be of no further force and 
effect on such date. 
 
We look forward to continuing to serve you. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
Union Bank of California, N. A. 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
        Peter Sitov 
        Senior Vice President 
 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED: 
MCGRATH RENTCORP, a 
California Corporation 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
        Thomas J. Sauer 
        Vice President and Chief 
        Financial Officer 
 
 
Date: ________________________, 2001 
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                                CREDIT LINE NOTE 
 
 
 
====================================================================================================== 
Borrower Name 
MCGRATH RENTCORP., a California corporation 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                                                           
Borrower Address                                         Office                 Loan Number 
        5700 Las Positas Road                            East Bay Commercial 
        Livermore, California 94550                      Banking                _________________ 
                                                         _________________      Amount 
                                                         Maturity Date          $5,000,000 
                                                         June 30, 2004 
====================================================================================================== 
 
 
$5,000,000                                         Effective as of June 28, 2001 
 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, on June 30, 2004, the undersigned ("Borrower") promises to 
pay to the order of UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A. ("Bank"), as indicated below, 
the principal sum of FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000), or so much thereof as is 
disbursed, together with interest on the balance of such principal sum from time 
to time outstanding, at a per annum rate equal to the Reference Rate, such per 
annum rate to change as and when the Reference Rate shall change. 
 
As used herein, the term "Reference Rate" shall mean the rate announced by Bank 
from time to time at its corporate headquarters as its "Reference Rate." The 
Reference Rate is an index rate determined by Bank from time to time as a means 
of pricing certain extensions of credit and is neither directly tied to any 
external rate of interest or index nor necessarily the lowest rate of interest 
charged by Bank at any given time. 
 
All computations of interest under this note shall be made on the basis of a 
year of 360 days, for actual days elapsed. 
 
1.      PAYMENTS. 
 
        1.1 INTEREST PAYMENTS. Borrower shall pay interest on the last day of 
        each month commencing on the first such date to occur after the first 
        advance under this note. Should interest not be so paid, it shall become 
        a part of the principal and thereafter bear interest as herein provided. 
 
        1.2 PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS. All principal outstanding on this note is due 
        and payable on the earlier of June 30, 2004 or any accelerated maturity 
        date. 
 
Borrower shall pay all amounts due under this note in lawful money of the United 
States at Bank's East Bay Commercial Banking Office, or such other office as may 
be designated by Bank, from time to time. 
 
2.      INTEREST RATE FOLLOWING DEFAULT. In the event of default, at the option 
of Bank, and, to the extent permitted by law, interest shall be payable on the 
outstanding principal under this note at a per annum rate equal to two percent 
(2%) in excess of the interest rate specified in the initial paragraph of this 
note, calculated from the date of default until all amounts payable under this 
note are paid in full. 
 
3.      DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION OF TIME FOR PAYMENT. Default shall include, 
but not be limited to, any of the following: (a) the failure of Borrower to make 
any payment required under this note when due; (b) any breach misrepresentation 
or other default by Borrower, any guarantor, co-maker endorser, or any person or 
entity other than Borrower providing security for this note (hereinafter 
individually and collectively referred to as the "Obligor") under any security 
agreement, guaranty or other agreement between Bank and any Obligor; (c) the 
insolvency of any Obligor or the failure of any Obligor generally to pay such 
Obligor's debts as such debts become due; (d) the commencement as to any Obligor 
of any voluntary or involuntary proceeding under any laws relating to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, debt adjustment or debtor 
relief; (e) the assignment by any Obligor for the benefit of such Obligor's 
creditors; (f) the appointment, or commencement of any proceedings for the 
appointment, of a receiver, trustee custodian or similar official for all or 
substantially all of any Obligor's property; (g) the commencement of any 
proceeding for the dissolution or liquidation of any Obligor; (h) the 
termination of existence or death of any Obligor; (i) the failure of any Obligor 
to comply with any order, 
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judgment, injunction, decree, writ or demand of any court or other public 
authority; (j) the filing or recording against any Obligor, or the property of 
any Obligor, of any notice of levy, notice to withhold, or other legal process 
for taxes other than property taxes; (k) the default by any Obligor personally 
liable for amounts owed hereunder on any obligation concerning the borrowing of 
money; (I) the issuance against any Obligor, or the property of any Obligor, of 
any writ of attachment, execution, or other judicial lien; (m) the deterioration 
of the financial condition of any Obligor which results in Bank deeming itself, 
in good faith, insecure; (n) Borrower's failure to comply with any provision of 
the Multibank Agreement (as defined in that certain facility letter between 
Borrower and Bank dated June 28, 2001 ("Facility Letter"), executed in 
connection herewith); or (o) Borrower's failure to comply with any provision of 
the Facility Letter. Upon the occurrence of any such default, Bank may declare, 
in its discretion, all obligations under this note immediately due and payable; 
however, upon the occurrence of an event of default under d, e, f, g, or n all 
principal and interest shall automatically become immediately due and payable. 
 
4.      ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF BORROWER. If any amounts owing under this note 
are not paid when due, Borrower promises to pay all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Bank in the collection or 
enforcement of this note. Borrower and any endorsers of this note for the 
maximum period of time and the full extent permitted by law (a) waive diligence, 
presentment, demand, notice of nonpayment, protest, notice of protest, and 
notice of every kind; (b) waive the right to assert the defense of any statute 
of limitations to any debt or obligation hereunder; and (c) consent to renewals 
and extensions of time for the payment of any amounts due under this note. If 
this note is signed by more than one party, the term 'Borrower" includes each of 
the undersigned and any successors in interest thereof; all of whose liability 
shall be joint and several. The receipt of any check or other item of payment by 
Bank, at its option, shall not be considered a payment on account until such 
check or other item of payment is honored when presented for payment at the 
drawee bank. Bank may delay the credit of such payment based upon Bank's 
schedule of funds availability, and interest under this note shall accrue until 
the funds are deemed collected. In any action brought under or arising out of 
this note, Borrower and any endorser of this note, including their successors 
and assigns, hereby consents to the jurisdiction of any competent court within 
the State of California, except as provided in any alternative dispute 
resolution agreement executed between Borrower and Bank, and consents to service 
of process by any means authorized by said state law. The term "Bank" includes, 
without limitation, any holder of this note. This note shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of California. 
 
This note is subject to the terms of the facility letter between Borrower and 
Bank executed in connection herewith but in the event of any conflict between 
the terms of such facility letter and this note the terms of this note shall 
prevail. 
 
 
MCGRATH RENTCORP, a 
California corporation 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
        Thomas J. Sauer 
        Vice President and 
        Chief Financial Officer 
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